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Contacts 

 

 

Office location:  Level 1 
87 Adelaide Terrace 
East Perth WA 6004 

 
Postal address:  PO Box 6119 

East Perth WA 6892 
 
Telephone:  (08) 9425 1888 
Facsimile:   (08) 9325 1041 
Toll free:   1800 634 541 
 
Internet:   www.rgl.wa.gov.au  
Email:   rgl@rgl.wa.gov.au 
 

 

 

 

AVAILABILITY IN OTHER FORMATS 
 
This publication can be made available in alternative formats such as compact disc, 
audiotape or Braille. The report is available in PDF format at www.rgl.wa.gov.au 

 
People who have a hearing or speech impairment may call the National Relay Service on 
133 677 and quote telephone number (08) 9425 1888.
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Statement of Compliance 

Hon. Brendon Grylls, MLA 
Minister for Housing; Racing and Gaming 

In accordance with section 61 of the Financial Management Act 2006, I hereby submit, for 
your information and presentation to Parliament, the Annual Report of the Department of 
Racing, Gaming and Liquor for the financial year ended 30 June 2016. 

The Annual Report has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Financial 
Management Act 2006. 

Michael Connolly 
Acting Director General 

16 September 2016
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Overview of Agency

Executive Summary 

During the past 12 months, more than 
15,000 licences, transfers, permits, 
orders, notices and certificates were 
issued by the Department of Racing, 
Gaming and Liquor.  

During the reporting period, the 
amendments to the Liquor Control Act 
1988 that came into operation were the 
first stage of the Government’s response 
to the 2013 review of the Act. 

The changes to the Act introduced 
secondary supply laws in relation to 
supplying liquor to juveniles, and provide 
more flexibility for producers wishing to 
establish cellar door outlets.  Sunday 
trading hours for hotels and nightclubs 
were extended by two hours as part of 
the changes. 

During the reporting period, the 
Department introduced a number of online 
services for customers, including a 
lodgement system for standard lottery 
(raffle) applications and the renewal 
process for approved managers.  The first 
of the five-year manager approvals began 
expiring in June 2016, and as a result the 
online renewal system went live in early 
2016.

Finally, after more than 25 years at 
87 Adelaide Terrace, East Perth, the 
Department will soon be moving to 140 
William Street, Perth.  While the date of 
the move has not yet been finalised, it is 
expected to take place around November, 

2016. 

I take this opportunity to thank all 
departmental staff for their significant 
contribution over the past 12 months. 

Barry A Sargeant PSM 
Director General 
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Operational Structure 

Enabling Legislation 
 
The Department of Racing, Gaming and Liquor is established as a Department under 
section 35 of the Public Sector Management Act 1994. 
 

Responsible Minister 
 
During 2015/16, the Minister responsible for the Racing and Gaming portfolio was the 
Honourable Colin Holt MLC, Minister for Housing; Racing and Gaming. 
 

Mission, Vision and Values 
 
The Department of Racing, Gaming and Liquor’s mission is to regulate the liquor and 
gambling industries in Western Australia.   
 
The vision of the Department is that lawful liquor and gambling activities are provided for 
the social and economic benefit of Western Australians. The Department’s values are 
respect, professionalism, innovation excellence, accountability and collaboration. 
 

Corporate Executive 
 
Barry Sargeant PSM, Director General 
 
Mr Sargeant is the accountable officer for the Department of Racing, Gaming and 
Liquor.  As Director General, Mr Sargeant is the administrative head for the operations of 
the Department of Racing, Gaming and Liquor. He is also the employing authority for all staff. 
 
Mr Sargeant also holds the statutory positions of Director of Liquor Licensing and, in an ex-
officio capacity, Chairman of the Gaming and Wagering Commission of Western 
Australia. 
 

Michael Connolly, Deputy Director General 
 
Mr Connolly leads the implementation of policies and initiatives relevant to the regulation 
of the liquor and gambling industries. 
 
Mr Connolly supports the Director General in establishing and refining the strategic 
direction of the Department, and overseeing the operational management of the 
Department.  He also exercises high level statutory authority and delegation and makes 
legally binding decisions.  
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Nicola Perry, Director Liquor and Gambling 
 
Ms Perry is responsible for leading the regulation of the Western Australian liquor and 
gambling industries to support harm minimisation and ensure the integrity of industry 
operations. 
 
Lance Sgro, Director Corporate Governance 
 
Mr Sgro leads the Corporate Governance team that is responsible for the provision of 
operational and strategic financial, human resources, information technology, information 
management, planning and executive support services. 
 
Mark Beecroft, Director Strategic Regulation 
 
Mr Beecroft is responsible for leading the policy, legislative and communications strategies 
in relation to the Western Australian liquor and gambling industries.  The Strategic 
Regulation division also provides executive support services to the Gaming and Wagering 
Commission, the Problem Gambling Support Services Committee and the Gaming 
Community Trust   
 
Peter Minchin, Director Administrative Law 
 
Mr Minchin is responsible for the Administrative Law Division which delivers complex liquor 
licensing determinations and provides authoritative advice on liquor licensing matters.  The 
Admin is t ra t ive Law division also provides executive support services to the Racing 
Penalties Appeal Tribunal and the Liquor Commission. 
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Departmental Organisational Chart as at 30 June 2016 
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Key Functions of the Department 

The Department is engaged in a range of activities and provides a number of core 
services to the public of Western Australia to ensure that government objectives and 
desired outcomes are achieved.  In particular, the Department provides: 
 
 Licensing, inspectorial and audit services for the liquor and gambling industries; 

 Expertise and experience in structuring legislation and policy relevant to the liquor and 
gambling industries; and 

 Information and support to stakeholders, as well as programs designed to raise 
awareness of relevant legislation and policies. 

 
In addition, the Department also provides support services to the Gaming and Wagering 
Commission of Western Australia, the Liquor Commission of Western Australia, the 
Racing Penalties Appeal Tribunal of Western Australia, the Gaming Community Trust and 
the Problem Gambling Support Services Committee. 

Administered Legislation 

The Minister for Racing and Gaming administers the following Acts: 

 Betting Control Act 1954; 

 Bookmakers Betting Levy Act 1954; 

 Casino (Burswood Island) Agreement Act 1985; 

 Casino Control Act 1984; 

 Gaming and Betting (Contracts and Securities) Act 1985; 

 Gaming and Wagering Commission Act 1987; 

 Gaming and Wagering Commission (Continuing Lotteries Levy) Act 2000; 

 Liquor Control Act 1988; 

 Racing and Wagering Western Australia Act 2003; 

 Racing and Wagering Western Australia Tax Act 2003; 

 Racing Bets Levy Act 2009; 

 Racing Penalties (Appeals) Act 1990; 

 Racing Restriction Act 2003; 

 The Western Australian Turf Club Act 1892; 

 Western Australian Turf Club (Property) Act 1944; 

 Western Australian Greyhound Racing Association Act 1981; and 

 Western Australian Trotting Association Act 1946. 
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Other Key Legislation Impacting on the Department’s Activities 

In the performance of its functions, the Department complies with the following relevant 
written laws: 

 Auditor General Act 2006; 

 Contaminated Sites Act 2003; 

 Criminal Procedures Act 2004 

 Criminal Investigation Act 2006 

 Disability Services Act 1993; 

 Equal Opportunity Act 1984; 

 Electronic Transactions Act 2003; 

 Financial Management Act 2006; 

 Freedom of Information Act 1992; 

 Industrial Relations Act 1979; 

 Minimum Conditions of Employment Act 1993; 

 Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984; 

 Public Interest Disclosure Act 2003; 

 Public Sector Management Act 1994; 

 Salaries and Allowances Act 1975; 

 State Records Act 2000; and 

 State Supply Commission Act 1991. 
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Performance Management Framework 

 

Outcome Based Management Framework 
 
Broad Government goals are supported by the Department by specific outcomes, and the 
Department delivers services to achieve these outcomes.  The following table illustrates the 
relationship between the Department’s services and desired outcomes, and the goals of 
Government. 
 

Government Goal 
Desired Outcome of the 

Department 
Services Delivered by the 

Department 

Greater focus on achieving 
results in key service 
delivery areas for the 
benefit of all Western 

Australians. 

To minimise harm to the 
community of liquor and 

gambling activities through 
the application of 

government legislation and 
policy. 

Evaluation and 
determination of licensing 

applications. 

Conduct of compliance 
audits and inspections. 

 
Changes to Outcome Based Management Framework 
 
The Department’s Outcome Based Management Framework did not change during 
2015-16. 
 
Shared Responsibilities with other Agencies 
 
The Department has shared responsibilities with the: 

 Department of Local Government and Communities; 

 Department of Heritage; and 

 Equal Employment Commission, 
 
for the provision of Human Resources (Aurion) and Finance (Tech ONE) systems. 
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Agency Performance 

Report on Operations 
 

Actual Results versus Budget Targets 

Financial Targets Target* Actual Variation 

Total cost of services (expense limit) 
(sourced  from  Statement of Comprehensive Income) 

$15,114,000 $16,708,000 $1,594,000 

Net cost of services 
(sourced from Statement of Comprehensive Income) 

$5,432,000 $5,599,000 $167,000 

Total equity 
(sourced from Statement of Financial Position) 

$8,752,000 $7,700,000 ($1,052,000) 

Net increase / (decrease) in cash held 
(sourced from Statement of Cash Flows) 

($40,000) ($780,000) ($740,000) 

Summary of Key Performance Indicators** 
2015-16 
Target 

2015-16 
Actual 

Variation 

Licensee/service providers that comply with 
audit requirements and statutory criteria 

94% 98% 4% 

Evaluation and determination of licensing 
applications  –  average cost of determining 
applications 

$480 $554 $74 

Compliance audits and inspections – 
average cost of conducting an inspection 

$979 $995 $16 

 
* As specified in the Budget Statements for the year in question. 
 
** Detailed information on Key Performance Indicators can be found later in the report. 
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Liquor and Gambling Regulation  

The Department is responsible for the licensing, auditing and inspection of all liquor and 
gambling activities in Western Australia.  
 

Liquor Regulation  
 
The Liquor Control Act 1988 provides the legislative framework for the liquor licensing 
authority, comprising the Director of Liquor Licensing and the Liquor Commission, to 
regulate the: 
 
 Sale, supply and consumption of liquor; 

 Use of premises on which liquor is sold; and  

 Services and facilities provided in conjunction with the sale of liquor. 
 
One of the primary objects of the Act is to minimise harm or ill-health caused to people, 
or any group of people, due to the use of liquor.  In accordance with section 13 of the Act, 
the Director of Liquor Licensing is responsible for the administration of the legislation, 
other than those aspects that relate to the Liquor Commission. 
 
In addition to determining liquor licensing applications, the Director of Liquor Licensing can 
also: 
 
 Monitor the standards of licensed premises; 

 Ensure compliance with the requirements of the Liquor Control Act 1988; 

 Develop and implement policy consistent with Government objectives; 

 Provide policy advice; 

 Negotiate and liaise with industry groups on high level matters, such as  Liquor Accords 
and industry training; 

 Consider section 117 complaints (complaints about noise or behaviour related to 
licensed premises) and be responsive to such complaints; and 

 Determine any matters arising from the administration of the Act. 
 
The Department also performs functions for the Commonwealth Government in respect to 
liquor activities on Christmas and Cocos islands.  The cost of services provided in the Indian 
Ocean Territories is recouped by the Department from the Commonwealth and retained as 
part of a net appropriation determination. 
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Liquor Licensing 

The Department provides a licensing service for the liquor industry where applications 
made in accordance with the provisions of the relevant legislation are evaluated and 
determined by the Liquor and Gambling, and Administrative Law Divisions. 

Business Support 

In raising awareness of the legislation administered by the Department, the Business Support 
team delivers internal and external presentations to liquor licence holders, prospective 
applicants, community groups and other stakeholders throughout the metropolitan and 
regional areas of the State.  These presentations focus on liquor, gaming and casino 
employee legislation and policy.  In addition, compliance inspectors conduct educational 
visits with new liquor licence holders.  

During the reporting period, 62 new licensee visits/contacts were made.  Six internal 
seminars were held on various aspects of liquor and gaming legislation, and 25 external 
seminars were conducted on similar subjects across the metropolitan and regional areas. 

Part of the Business Support program includes front counter, e-business and general 
customer engagement services.  Front counter staff attended to 3,903 face-to-face 
customer and stakeholder enquiries in relation to understanding the legislative requirements 
for liquor, gaming and casino applications. 

New Initiatives Introduced During the Year 

Introduction of new Online Functions 

In March 2015, the Department implemented a new unified regulatory system (Navigate) to 
replace the licensing and compliance systems that had been in place for the previous 20 years. 
The new system includes an interactive web-based portal that allows the Department’s 
customers to lodge, view and track the status of the applications online.  Outlined below are 
those functions that went online during 2015-16. 

Manager Approval Renewal 

In 2011 the Licensing Authority introduced five-year manager approvals.  During the reporting 
period, the online renewal capability for manager approvals went live enabling the processing 
of the first instalment of renewals in June. 

Essentially, a notice is sent to the approved manager three months before the expiry date.  
The manager is then required to log onto their online account to undertake a renewal 
process.  Once payment has been received, the new approval will be issued and is valid for a 
further five years. 

The implementation of the online renewal system was successful with no interruption to 
services offered by the Department. 
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Lodgement of Standard Lotteries 

The Department also introduced an online lodgement system for standard lottery (raffle) 
activity that allows applications and financial returns to be processed online. 

To access the online application, applicants are required to create an account through the 
Department’s website. 

The new system allows documents that are required to support an application to be uploaded 
electronically, as well as allowing the electronic lodgement of financial returns and online 
payments. 

The online function for standard lotteries was well received with no interruption to service 
delivery; it has seen application processing times reduced by up to 25 percent. 

Future online applications 

The following applications are expected to go online in 2016-17: 

 One-off profit sharing (Liquor); 

 Casino employees (including upgrades, downgrades and resumptions); 

 One-off extended trading permits; 

 One-off addition/variations (Liquor); 

 Gaming functions; 

 Persons in a position of authority (Liquor); and  

 Change of permit holders (Gaming). 

The table on the following page provides a four-year summary of the type and quantity of 
liquor licence applications received by the Department. 
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Liquor Licensing Applications Received 

Licence Type 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 

Transfer of Licence 247 309 335 329 

Grant and Removal of Licence 209 252 243 277 

Alteration/Redefinition 114 150 184 193 

Variation to Licence Conditions 249 272 292 235 

Extended Trading Permits (long term 
extended hours) 

49 36 43 51 

Extended Trading Permits (other long term) 185 303 224 191 

One-off Extended Trading Permits 1,300 1,423 1,883 1,726 

Approval of Manager 4,541 4,658 4,640 4,412 

Protection Orders 74 49 38 40 

Change of Premises Name 122 89 98 234 

Position of Authority/Shareholding 148 112 136 192 

Arrangement/Agreement 142 144 142 123 

One-off variation of a licence 226 213 289 423 

Conversion: Club Restricted to full Club 
licence 

1 1 0 0 

Conversion: Hotel to Tavern or Hotel 
Restricted licence 

1 0 1 0 

Occasional 5,001 3,955 2,944 3,058 

Liquor Restricted Premises 186 196 138 136 

Total 12,795 12,162 11,632 11,620 
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The table below provides a summary of the type and quantity of liquor licence applications 
determined by the Department over the past two years. 

Liquor Licence Applications Determined  

Licence Type 2014-15 2015-16 

Transfer of Licence 274 337 

Grant and Removal of Licence 207 300 

Alteration/Redefinition 163 142 

Variation to Licence Conditions 234 236 

Extended Trading Permits (long term extended 
hours) 

36 58 

Extended Trading Permits (other long term) 196 205 

One-off Extended Trading Permits 1,750 1,737 

Approval of Manager 4,058 4,533 

Protection Orders 38 40 

Change of Premises Name 89 205 

Position of Authority/Shareholding 166 201 

Arrangement/Agreement 140 135 

One-off variation of a licence 248 424 

Conversion: Club Restricted to full Club licence 0 0 

Conversion: Hotel to Tavern or Hotel Restricted 
licence 

1 0 

Occasional 2,780 3,003 

Liquor Restricted Premises 93 105 

Total 10,473 11,661 
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The following table provides a four-year summary of the number of licensed premises in 
Western Australia as at 30 June.  A comparison between this reporting period and the 
previous one shows the number of licensed premises in Western Australia has risen slightly.  

Liquor Licences by Types and Categories 

Licence Types 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 

Hotel 275 272 277 276 

Hotel Restricted 52 54 56 57 

Tavern 389 382 394 393 

Tavern Restricted 16 24 36 49 

Small Bar 78 88 101 111 

Liquor Store 547 557 572 584 

Club 419 415 412 413 

Club Restricted 560 568 563 569 

Restaurant 824 867 918 977 

Nightclub 44 42 42 42 

Special Facility 588 581 577 570 

Casino Liquor 1 1 1 1 

Producer 557 544 541 538 

Wholesaler 202 209 211 220 

Total 4,552 4,604 4,701 4,800 
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The following table provides a two-year summary of the number and nature of applications for the grant of a licence received by the 
Department, together with the outcome of determinations and the nature of licences cancelled and surrendered.   

Liquor Licences Received and Determined, by Type 

 Status Hotel 
Hotel 

Restricted 
Tavern 

Tavern 
Restricted 

Small 
Bar 

Liquor 
Store 

Club 
Club 

Restricted 
Restaurant Nightclub 

Special 
Facility 

Producer W’saler Total 

15-16 

Applications 
Received 

2 2 9 24 12 27 2 13 90 1 30 16 23 251 

Withdrawn 1 1 4 2 4 1 1 3 11 0 6 2 1 37 

Refused/ 
Struck Out 

0 0 0 0 0 11 0 1 2 0 1 0 0 15 

Granted 2 1 3 13 13 13 1 14 94 0 28 17 20 219 

Cancelled/ 
Surrendered 

3 0 4 0 3 1 0 8 35 0 35 20 11 120 

14-15 

Applications 
Received 

2 1 9 11 13 24 1 11 93 0 30 17 13 225 

Withdrawn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Refused/ 
Struck Out 

0 1 0 0 1 4 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 8 

Granted 1 2 7 11 11 12 0 6 77 0 23 18 15 183 

Cancelled/ 
Surrendered 

0 0 3 0 0 4 4 7 23 0 31 16 10 98 
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Liquor Compliance Program 

The Department undertakes regular inspectorial and audit activities to regulate the sale, 
supply and consumption of liquor, and to minimise harm and ill-health to the public.  
Additionally, inspections are undertaken to ensure that licensed premises are being operated 
and maintained to a standard that meets consumer expectations. 

To achieve this, the inspectorial program includes undertaking the following activities: 

 Assessing applications in relation to the proposed standard of licensed premises;

 Inspecting licensed premises both in terms of standards and operations;

 Assisting in the resolution of noise complaints relating to licensed premises; and

 Investigating complaints.

Where licensed premises are being run contrary to the Act, cautions and infringements may 
be issued to the licensee/and or approved manager/staff member.  Over the reporting period, 
inspectors found the most common reason for the issue of a caution was a failure to have an 
approved manager on duty at all times, this was most notable in licensed restaurants.  A total 
of 44 cautions and nine infringements were issued during 2015-16. 

As far as the standard of premises is concerned, departmental inspectors found that the 
majority of work orders they issued were to older country hotels, particularly in the Wheatbelt 
area.  These work orders were predominantly issued in relation to significant structural 
maintenance and the requirement to upgrade accommodation smoke alarms, emergency 
lighting and emergency exits.  The requirement for general maintenance and to undertake 
structural repairs were also a major factor influencing the issue of work orders.  During the 
reporting period 103 premises section work orders were issued. 
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The following table provides a four-year summary of the number and nature of audits, 
inspections, assessments and investigations conducted, as well as the number of non 
compliance with legislative requirements.  
 

Audits, Inspections, Assessments and 
Investigations 

2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 

Compliance audits and inspections conducted 1,407 1,351 1,777 2,218 

Premises inspections conducted 762 474 309 1,301 

Subsidy claims  153 124 157 40 

Returns checks completed 791 740 740 596 

Subsidy audits conducted 0 21 2 0 

Total 3,113 2,710 2,985 4,155 

Non Compliance with Legislative 
Requirements 

2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 

Work Orders issued 132 48 56 103 

Infringements issued 123 61 52 9 

Cautions issued 183 127 121 44 

Breaches of the Liquor Control Act 1988 0 1 0 1 

Total 438 237 229 157 

 

The increase in premises inspections for 2015-16 can be attributed to a full complement of 
officers being available, and a change in the recording of activities that now include “desk 
assessments” of premises in relation to new applications. 
 
 
Section 117 Complaints 
 
Section 117 of the Liquor Control Act 1988 provides that a complaint may be lodged in writing 
with the Director of Liquor Licensing alleging that: 
 
 The amenity, quiet or good order of the neighbourhood of the licensed premises is 

frequently unduly disturbed by reason of any activity occurring at a licensed premises; or 

 The behaviour of persons on the licensed premises/noise emanating from the licensed 
premises/or disorderly conduct occurring frequently in the vicinity of the licensed 
premises is unduly offensive, annoying, disturbing or inconvenient to persons who reside 
or work in the vicinity, or to persons in or making their way to or from a place of public 
worship, hospital or school.  

 

On receipt of a complaint, a departmental inspector will establish the facts and validity of the 
complaint.  The investigation and evidence gathering process can be a time consuming 
exercise, especially if the complaint relates to an infrequent event; for example excessive 
noise on Sunday nights emanating from a licensed premises. 
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Where a complaint is substantiated, an inspector will attempt to settle the matter by 
conciliation or negotiation.  This process may result in the introduction of voluntary trading 
conditions in order to satisfy all parties.  However, should this conciliation process be 
unsuccessful, the Director may make an order or vary/impose conditions on the licence, or 
otherwise deal with the matter. 

The following table shows the number of section 117 complaints that were handled by the 
Department during 2015/16.  Of the seven complaints (three of which were carried over from 
the previous year), four were resolved and the remainder were being considered at the time 
this report was published.  

Complaints outstanding as at 1 July 2015 3 

Complaints lodged 1 July 2015 – 30 June 2016 4 

Complaints resolved 1 July 2015 – 30 June 2016 4 

Total Outstanding Complaints 3 

Section 95 

The Liquor Commission determines complaints and disciplinary matters in accordance with 
section 95 of the Liquor Control Act 1988.  Complaints lodged to the Commission may be 
made by the Director of Liquor Licensing, the Commissioner of Police or a local government 
authority. 

The Commission will determine the validity of the complaint and impose disciplinary 
measures if grounds exist for such a course of action.  

Where a complaint is lodged for disciplinary action, one member of the Commission is to be a 
lawyer as defined in section 3 of the Act. 

The following table shows the number of section 95 complaints that were determined by the 
Commission during 2015-16. 

Complaints Outstanding as at 1 July 2015 3 

Complaints lodged 1 July 2015 – 30 June 2016 1 

Complaints resolved 1 July 2015 – 30 June 2016 4 

Total Outstanding Complaints as on 1 July 2016 0 
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Gambling Regulation 

Gambling Licensing 

Section 51 of the Gaming and Wagering Commission Act 1987 provides that gaming cannot 
be promoted or otherwise conducted for the purpose of private gain or any commercial 
undertaking.  

On behalf of the Gaming and Wagering Commission and under appropriate delegations, 
departmental officers evaluate and determine licence and permit applications to enable 
community and sporting clubs to raise funds through the conduct of a variety of community 
gaming activities.  These include standard lotteries (raffles), continuing lotteries (break-open 
bingo tickets), video lottery terminals (VLTs), bingo and gaming nights.  In addition, people 
who assist in the conduct of community gaming for reward are required to hold a Gaming 
Operator’s Certificate.  The integrity of gaming operators is paramount in the conduct of 
community gaming activities, and applicants must satisfy a probity investigation in addition to 
demonstrating the required skills needed for working in the gaming industry. 

During 2015-16, 2,498 community gaming permits were approved, while a total of 195 
permits/certificates were issued across a number of areas relating to various gaming 
activities, such as the approval of premises to enable gaming activities to be conducted. 

The following table provides a four-year summary of the total number of gaming permits 
issued by the Commission.  

Number of Gaming Permits/ 
Certificates Issued 

2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 

Bingo 192 169 131 182 

Continuing Lottery 212 194 128 188 

Gaming Functions 456 437 511 618 

Standard Lottery 856 936 977 1,032 

Calcutta 51 47 54 56 

Two-up 50 80 68 68 

VLTS 386 345 267 354 

Total 2,203 2,208 2,136 2,498 

Class of Gaming Equipment 5 6 5 5 

Item of Gaming Equipment 3 2 3 3 

Approval of Premises 153 196 145 150 

Gaming Operator’s Certificate 26 21 36 33 

Supplier’s Certificate 8 9 10 4 

Total 195 234 199 195 
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During 2015-16 a gross amount of approximately $73.8 million was raised by permit holders 
during the reporting period. 
 
Following the deduction of expenses associated with running the events, a net amount of 
approximately $27.5 million was returned to beneficiary organisations for the active 
promotion, support or conduct of sporting, social, political, literary, artistic, scientific, 
benevolent, charitable or other similar activities within the Western Australian community. 
This figure has increased since the previous reporting period, with a significant increase in 
the amount raised by standard lottery permits which can mainly be attributed to an increase 
in the popularity of “mega lotteries”. 
 
The following table provides a summary of the total gross and net revenue raised by gaming 
permit holders over the past three years. 
 

Comparison of Gross and Net Revenue Raised by Gaming Permit Holders 

 

2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 

Gross Net Gross Net Gross Net 

Bingo $5,378,510 $594,019 $3,515,528 $194,426* $5,648,263 $677,126 

Continuing 
Lottery 

$5,824,688 $1,156,485 $4,255,978 $886,183 $4,161,303 $834,972 

Gaming 
Functions 

$3,652,391 $444,596 $3,991,570 $459,766 $3,712,972 $449,575 

Standard 
Lottery 

$36,672,333 $18,267,647 $35,965,232 $17,440,010 $53,926,038 $24,894,913 

Calcutta $513,131 $80,066 $419,970 $72,260 $304,349 $47,427 

Two-up $87,609 $39,084 $77,922 $34,435 $81,246 $33,642 

VLTs $10,206,471 $935,881 $5,472,656 $904,173 $6,052,769 $605,277 

Total $62,335,133 $21,517,778 $53,698,856 $19,858,794 $73,886,940 $27,542,932 

 
* This is a correction of the figure reported in the 2014-15 annual report. 
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The Gambling Regulation Division is also responsible for the issue of licences and permits to 
allow persons to work in: 
 
 Licensed positions at Crown Casino Perth; 

 Licensed positions at Racing and Wagering Western Australia; and 

 Bookmaking operations. 
 
Licensing Casino Employees and Casino Key Employees 
 
In order to maintain public confidence in those involved in providing gaming activities at 
Crown Perth, all people who have managerial responsibilities (casino key employees) or 
have duties that support the licensed casino (casino employees – such as dealers, 
surveillance operators, security officers and so on) must be licensed under the Casino 
Control (Burswood Island) (Licensing of Employees) Regulations 1985. 

The following table provides a summary of the total number of licences issued to persons 
working in licensed positions at Crown Perth, RWWA and in bookmaking operations by the 
Commission during 2015-16. 
 

Number of Gaming Permits/Certificates Determined 2015-16 

Casino Key Employee 177 

Casino Employee 516 

RWWA Director 6 

RWWA Key Employee 12 

Bookmaker 0 

Bookmaker Manager 3 

Bookmaker Employee 18 

Total 732 

 
The following table provides a four-year summary of the total number of licences in operation.  
 

Casino Employee Licensing 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 

Casino Key Employee  417 408 442 488 

Casino Employee  1,895 1,839 1,779 1,850 

Total 2,312 2,247 2,221 2,338 

 
Casino Revenue 
 
In 2015-16, gross casino gaming revenue of $741.9 million was generated, producing 
$64.9 million in casino tax revenue for the State.  
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Amendment to the Casino Licensed Gaming Area  
 
During the 2015-16 financial year, Crown Perth sought the Commission’s support for an 
application to the Minister for Racing and Gaming seeking approval to increase the area of 
the casino’s licensed gaming footprint.   
 
The project, once finalised, will result in the relocation of the existing “Meridian Room” 
premium gaming facility, thereby providing increased patron comfort with an improved and 
contemporary layout.  At its October 2015 meeting, the Commission resolved to support the 
request and submitted Crown’s application with a recommendation to the Minister for his 
consideration.  
 
Subsequently, the “New Meridian” project was approved by the Minster.  The new area 
accommodates additional gaming products that have been previously approved for use.  
Commissioning of the “new” Meridian Room is scheduled to occur in the first half of the new 
financial year. 
 
Licensing RWWA Directors and Key Employees 
 
In accordance with the provisions of sections 14 and 24 of the Racing and Wagering 
Western Australia Act 2003, the following table provides a four-year summary of the 
total number of licences in operation at Racing and Wagering Western Australia. 
 

RWWA Employee Licences 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 

Directors 11 11 11 10 

Key Employee 72 76 78 81 

Total 83 87 89 91 

 
Licensing Bookmaker Operations 
 
Bookmakers and bookmakers’ employees are required to be licensed in accordance with the 
Bookmakers Betting Levy Act 1954.  The following table provides a summary of the total 
number of licences in operation over the past four years. 
 

Bookmaker Licences 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 

As at 30 June 40 38 37 34 

Bookmaker’s Mangers Licence 

Issued 1 1 0 3 

Expired 0 0 1 0 

Bookmaker’s Employee Licence 

Issued 50 36 22 18 

Expired 54 39 16 0 
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Racing Bets Levy Returns 
 
The Gaming and Wagering Commission collects and disburses the racing bets levy which 
is paid by betting operators who use Western Australian race fields as part of their betting 
operations. In this regard, the Commission remits all levies (less a monthly administration 
fee) to Racing and Wagering Western Australia (RWWA) for distribution among all WA 
registered racing clubs. 
 
During the reporting period, the Commission remitted more than $48 million in racing bets levy 
to RWWA for distribution.   Since the introduction of the racing bets levy scheme, the 
Commission has remitted more than $248 million to RWWA for distribution to Western 
Australian racing clubs. 
 
Wagering Revenue 

During the reporting period, wagering revenue of $329.3 million (excluding GST) was 
generated by Racing and Wagering Western Australia (RWWA), producing more than $42.2 
million in wagering taxation for the State.   
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Gambling Compliance Program 
 
On behalf of the Gaming and Wagering Commission, the Department undertakes 
inspectorial and audit activities to regulate the lawful conduct of gambling activities that 
are permitted under the Betting Control Act 1954, the Casino Control Act 1984, the Gaming 
and Wagering Commission Act 1987, and the Racing and Wagering Western Australia Act 
2003. 
 
Inspectorial activities performed by the Department include: 
 
 Casino audits, inspections and investigations; 

 Inspection and audit of financial returns in relation to permitted gaming activities; 

 Inspection of race day activities; and 

 Audits of TAB agencies. 
 
The following table provides a four-year summary of the number and nature of audits, 
inspections, assessments and investigations conducted by the Commission.  A breakdown of 
these figures is provided in the subsequent table.   
 

Audit, Inspections, Assessments 
and Investigations 

2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 

Racing 323 522 443 364 

Lotterywest 706 756 798 1,061 

Community Gaming 364 280 398 255 

Casino 3,726 3,021 3,460 2,301 

Total 5,119 4,579 5,099 3,981 
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The following table provides a four-year summary of the number and nature of compliance 
activities undertaken by the Department. 
 

Inspectorate Program 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 

Wagering 

Bookmaker telephone betting inspections 16 18 8 19 

Bookmaker licensing and equipment checks 1 1 1 6 

Bookmaker betting operations inspections 1 1 51 9 

TAB agency inspections and cash counts 180 371 295 269 

On course tote inspections and audits 2 4 3 8 

Sports betting contingency audit 0 0 0 0 

Racing bets levy return audits  0 0 0 2 

Racing Audits - Other 36 

Racing industry GST reimbursement claims 
received 

79 92 85 162 

Racing industry GST reimbursement audits 
conducted  

0 1 0 0 

Lotterywest 

Verification of Cash 3, Lotto/Soccer Pools, 
Promotional Draws and GST Claims 

706 756 798 1,073 

Community Gaming 

Gaming inspections performed 198 154 216 129 

Gaming investigations conducted 15 4 15 68 

Gaming audits conducted 91 90 167 58 

Casino 

EGM Prom and seal checks completed  2,564 403 1,971 1,416 

Daily revenue figures calculated 363 365 256 300 

Illegal activity detected 6 10 5 4 

Casino audits and inspections completed 7 1,476 495 447 

Casino GST reimbursement claims received 12 12 7 1 

Submissions to the Gaming and Wagering Commission 

Racing industry  7 2 5 3 

Racing and Wagering WA  37 32 16 17 

Gaming  41 27 30 17 

Casino  49 29 38 33 

Gaming Compliance issues 19 5 6 15 
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Strategic Regulation 

This Division is responsible for leading the policy, legislative, communications and regional 
engagement strategies in relation to the Western Australian liquor and gambling 
industries.  The Division consists of the Policy, and Media and Communications teams. 
 
During the reporting period, the major activities undertaken by the Policy and Media and 
Communications areas were: 
 
 Progressed 16 legislative amendments across the suite of legislation administered by 

the Department, including the Liquor Legislation Amendment Act 2015; 

 Progressed 51 casino related submission with regard to Directions, procedure manuals 
and rules. 

 Reviewed 28 liquor and gambling polices; 

 Reviewed 53 liquor and gambling audit/inspection programs; 

 Provided ministerial support through the preparation of 138 draft ministerial letters, 
briefing notes and parliamentary questions; 

 Undertook executive support roles to the Gaming and Wagering Commission, Problem 
Gambling Support Services Committee and Gaming Community Trust; 

 Responded to approximately 130 media enquiries; and 

 Produced a number of publications, including the quarterly online magazine RGL Form. 
 
The Strategic Regulation Division is also responsible for managing the Department’s social 
media presence, including Facebook, Twitter and LinkedIn.  During the reporting period, the 
Department continued to be an active user of Facebook and had attracted approximately 530 
“likes” at the time this report was published.  The Department also operates a Twitter 
account, the numbers of subscribers to which continues to grow.   
 
Essentially, the Department uses its social media presence to raise awareness of issues 
affecting liquor licensees, the general public and other stakeholders.  It is expected the 
numbers of stakeholders subscribing to these social media platforms will continue to grow 
over the coming 12 months and beyond. 
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Administrative Law 

The Administrative Law Division determines the more complex matters under the Liquor 
Control Act 1988 (the Act), including those applications that are subject to the public interest 
test contained in section 38(2). 
 
An important focus of the Division is to ensure procedural fairness in the licensing authority’s 
procedures by providing parties with a reasonable opportunity to present their case.  As such, 
the decision-making process employed by the Division includes weighing and balancing the 
sometimes competing interests of applicants, interveners and objectors, in order to determine 
a matter in a manner that is consistent with the Act’s public interest provisions, the 
interpretation of the law by the courts, and in a manner that promotes the objects of the Act. 
 
While the Division’s primary focus is on delivering complex liquor licensing determinations, it 
also provides advice on more complex liquor licensing matters.  In determining applications in 
accordance with the statutory delegation afforded to them by the Director of Liquor Licensing, 
delegates of the Director deliver decisions that aim to build public trust in the integrity of the 
liquor licensing process.  Key matters for determinations are applications for: 
 
 The grant or removal of licences; 

 Extended trading permits for on-going extended hours; 

 Extended trading permits for liquor without a meal under a restaurant licence; and 

 Adding, cancelling or varying the trading conditions of a licence. 

Another key area of decision-making relates to determining whether applicants (or other 
relevant persons) are fit and proper to: 

 Hold a licence or a position of authority in a body corporate that holds a licence;  

 Be approved as a restricted or unrestricted manager;  

 Be directly or indirectly interested in or in the profits or proceeds of, a business carried 
out under a licence. 

The Administrative Law Division also provides executive support services to the Liquor 
Commission and the Racing Penalties Appeal Tribunal. 
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2015-16 Permanent Liquor License Applications  

During the reporting period, the Department determined 251 applications for the grant of a 
new, permanent liquor licence.  This included applications relating to Aldi, a new entrant into 
the Western Australian grocery sector. 

Aldi proposed a new concept in relation to the integration of groceries and liquor in its outlets.  
In making determinations, a number of factors were considered collectively such as the 
accessibility to liquor with grocery items, diversity of products (including refrigerated 
products), costs of items, and the impacts/risks on the community which could arise by 
allowing the availability of low cost liquor to be integrated with grocery items. 

A number of decisions that attracted a level of public interest, including those relating to Aldi, 
can be found on the Department’s website: www.rgl.wa.gov.au. 

Liquor Commission Decisions and Supreme Court Challenges 
 
Parties dissatisfied with decisions made by the Director of Liquor Licensing or his delegate 
may apply to the Liquor Commission for a review of that decision.   

The following table shows the number of reviews sought at the Liquor Commission of a 
decision made by the Director of Liquor Licensing, and the number of applications referred to 
the Liquor Commission by the Director. 
 

Matters Involving both the Director and the Liquor Commission 

Number of reviews to the Liquor Commission carried over from previous year 11 

Number of reviews lodged with the Liquor Commission during the year 12 

Number of reviews heard by the Liquor Commission during the year 12 

Number of reviews carried over to 2016-17 6 

Number of applications referred by the Director to the Liquor Commission 
carried over from previous year 

1 

Number of applications referred by the Director to the Liquor Commission 
during the year 

2 

Number of applications referred by the Director to the Liquor Commission 
heard during the year 

1 

Number of applications referred by the Director to the Liquor Commission 
carried over to 2016-17 

2 
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Significant Appeals before the Liquor Commission 

Below are details surrounding the more high profile decisions made by the Liquor 
Commission during the reporting period. 

National Hotel, Fremantle (LC 28/2015) 

Original decision made by the Director can be viewed here. 

BACKGROUND 

On 17 October 2014, the Liquor Commission refused an application for an extended trading 
permit (ETP) to enable the National Hotel, Fremantle to trade:  

 Wednesday and Thursday 12 midnight to 1am the following day; and

 Friday and Saturday 12 midnight to 2am the following day;

The Commission found alcohol-related harm in Fremantle was at high levels and, upon 
weighing the various positive elements of the application against the likelihood of increased 
harm and ill health, came to the conclusion that public interest was best served by refusing 
the application. 

The applicant lodged an appeal with the Supreme Court of Western Australia on the grounds 
that: 

1. The Commission erred in law by failing to apply itself to the real question to be decided,
or by misunderstanding the nature of the opinion it was to form.

2. The Commission erred in law:

(a) by taking into account an observation that was purported to have been made but was 
not in fact made [in an earlier decision of the liquor licensing court]; and 

(b) by erroneously applying what was said in a passage in a decision in the Supreme 
Court of Victoria, 

in reaching the conclusion that “the public interest is best served in the circumstances of 
this application by refusing it”. 

3. The Commission erred in law by failing to give sufficient reasons for concluding that the
decision of the delegate of the Director of Liquor Licensing refusing the application for an
ETP should be affirmed.

4. The Commission erred in law by failing to take into account a relevant consideration,
namely the secondary objective in section 5(2)(a) of the Liquor Control Act 1988 (WA).
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The appeal was heard before the Supreme Court on 5 May 2015, which delivered its findings 
on 11 June 2015.  The Supreme Court: 

 Allowed the appeal; 

 Quashed the decision of the Commission; and 

 Referred the application back to the Commission for reconsideration. 

Ground 1 of the appeal was upheld with the Supreme Court accepting the applicant’s 
submission that the Commission was required to: 

1. Make findings that specifically identified the existing level of harm and ill-health in the 
relevant area (Fremantle) due to the use of liquor; 

2. Make findings about the likely degree of harm to result from the grant of the application; 

3. Assess the likely degree of harm to result from the grant of the application against the 
existing degree of harm; and 

4. Weigh the likely degree of harm together with any other relevant factors to determine 
whether the appellant had satisfied the Commission that it was in the public interest to 
grant the application. 

Grounds 2 and 4 were also upheld and ground 3 was dismissed. 

REHEARING ON 29 SEPTEMBER 2015 

In its determination handed down on 18 December 2015, a differently constituted 
Commission was of the view that notwithstanding that the level of alcohol-related harm in the 
City of Fremantle was high, in weighing and balancing all the factors, the partial grant of an 
ETP to 1am, even at a full capacity of 415 new or existing patrons, would not result in an 
increase in the level of harm and ill-health to the degree that approval of the application 
would not be in the public interest.  The Commission observed that the expectations of 
consumers and the history of trading in Fremantle and the benefits that accrue appear to be 
well accepted in the community, and the grant of the application would be in the public 
interest. 

The application was partially approved to provide extended trading hours on Wednesday, 
Thursday, Friday and Saturday from 12 midnight to 1am the following day, a total of four 
additional trading hours per week. 

Liquorland, South Bunbury (LC 18/2015) 

Original decision made by the Director can be viewed here. 

This concerned a review of an application for the conditional grant of a liquor store licence in 
respect of premises located at the Parks Shopping Centre in South Bunbury, to be known as 
Liquorland South Bunbury. 
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The Commission observed that convenience was just one factor to be considered when 
determining the requirement for consumers of liquor.  It stated that a liquor outlet at every 
corner delicatessen or beside every supermarket in order to satisfy the convenience of some 
members of the public is not what the community would expect and would not be in 
accordance with the provisions and intent of the Act. 

The Commission also referred to the two surveys conducted by the applicant in support of its 
application.  In previous decisions, the Commission has expressed reservations about the 
weight that may be applied to surveys.  This is because, among other reasons, the outcome 
of surveys is dependent upon the method of selection and sampling of respondents, the 
objectivity of the surveys, the types of questions asked, and the geographical and 
demographic composition and nature of the locality. 

In conclusion, the Commission found there was considerable concern at a community level 
about the existing prevalence of crime and anti-social behaviour, and the ready availability of 
alcohol and culture of alcohol consumption in the locality.  The risk of an increase in the 
overall level of consumption of alcohol in a locality where there is a high level of social 
disadvantage and antisocial behaviour, and where there is evidence of a serious level of 
domestic violence, outweighed any benefit that the grant of this application would have 
derived. 

The application was refused. 

Cape Cellars Drive-Thru, Busselton (LC 04/2016) 

Original decision made by the Director can be viewed here. 

A review was sought for an application for the conditional grant of a liquor store licence for 
premises to be known as Cape Cellars Drive-Thru in West Busselton. 

The premises in question was previously licensed for many years as a liquor store, and was 
held by a company related to the applicant company by virtue of the fact that both companies 
had the same person as the sole director.  In 2012, a conditional removal of that licence was 
granted and was to be transferred to new premises located 680m away.  In 2015, the 
removal of that licence was made unconditional.  At the time of making that application, the 
applicant had submitted that the removal of the licence to the new premises would “be able to 
satisfy a wide array of consumer needs for years to come” and “allow for a superior operation 
capable of catering for the requirements of consumers both now and into the future”.   

The application subject to review sought to revive the old site as a new liquor store but with a 
drive-through facility large enough to cater for motorists driving campervans or towing a boat 
or caravan. 

The Director was not persuaded that the applicant had established that the grant of a licence 
would address a need for packaged liquor services in the West Busselton area.  The Director 
noted there was two other licensed premises within the locality, and found the applicant’s 
assertion that the grant of the licence would cater to tourists and those towing caravans was 
not supported by consumer evidence. 
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In making its determination, the Commission acknowledged that a proliferation of liquor 
outlets is generally undesirable.  The Commission was cognisant of the fact that its 
determination in this instance involved approval of a licence less than 1km away from an 
existing liquor store.  However, given the applicant’s focus on servicing the tourism industry 
and, in particular, providing a drive-through service, the Commission was of the view that the 
applicant had demonstrated there was a consumer requirement for the sale of packaged 
liquor and, by a narrow margin, the applicant had established there was a public interest in 
the grant of  the application. 

The application was granted. 

Peninsula Tavern, Maylands (LC 03/2016) 

This section 24 application was referred by the Director for determination, and concerned an 
application by the licensee of the Peninsula Tavern, Maylands to redevelop the tavern and 
accompanying BWS liquor store.  The proposed development involved the demolition of the 
existing premises and the construction of a new tavern and Dan Murphy’s liquor store. 

By a decision of the majority of members, Chairperson Mr Seamus Rafferty dissenting, the 
Commission refused the application for the alteration and redefinition of the Peninsula 
Tavern in Maylands.  

It was the view of the majority of members that the proposed Dan Murphy’s store would, on 
the balance of probabilities, have a negative impact on the local community, particularly for 
“at risk” groups in the community.  The Commission was not persuaded that the benefits of 
the proposed development, as claimed by the applicant, outweighed the serious potential 
harm and ill-health that was likely to be caused to the various “at risk” groups in the locality. 

The application is currently on appeal before the Supreme Court. 

Liquor Barons, Kununurra (LC 09/2016) 

Original decision made by the Director can be viewed here. 

The applicant sought a review for the conditional grant of a liquor store licence for premises 
to be known as Liquor Barons Kununurra. 

The applicant claimed that the proposed premises differed from the other two packaged 
liquor outlets in Kununurra, they being the bottle shops operated by the Hotel Kununurra and 
Gulliver’s Tavern, by virtue of: 

a) the independent ownership and operation of the proposed store, and the flexibility that it 
would provide by enabling the applicant to tailor the range of liquor products to the 
requirements of the local community; 

b) the browse style layout; 

c) the proposed manner of trade which would focus on premium wines, boutique beer and 
spirits, and be directed towards attracting a segment of the market seeking quality and 
value; 

d) the wine tasting and education, gourmet products, such as Margaret River cheeses and 
olive oils, and local pickles and jams; 
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e) the attention to be given to quality control, particularly temperature control to guarantee 
wines were not heat affected; and 

f) The design of the store (in accordance with crime prevention through environmental 
design principles), and management and security systems to limit the risk of harm and 
adverse impact on the local amenity. 

The applicant refuted the claim that the proposed store would be duplicating the services and 
products offered by the existing two liquor outlets maintaining that the proposed packaged 
liquor outlet offer was “as far removed from the existing large scale, drive-through bottle 
shops as it is possible to get”.  The applicant maintained that the proposed store would 
feature a “bright lit, safe and comfortable browse environment for customers to discuss 
premium wine and spirit selections with knowledgeable staff”. 

The applicant accepted there was a level of alcohol-related harm in the community, but 
consistently maintained that the harm was closely associated with the excessive 
consumption of cheap discounted liquor, and that the proposed store’s premium products 
would not be attractive to that market segment.  Further, the store’s design and management 
practices would deter those seeking cheap and discounted liquor. 

Having regard to the number of “at risk” people in the locality, evidence of a correlation 
between outlet density and harm and ill-health, and the potential of an increase in the volume 
of liquor available for consumption in a relatively small country town, it was the Commission’s 
view that there was a high likelihood of harm or ill-health that would result from the granting 
of the application. 

The application was refused. 

Con’s Liquor, Geraldton (LC13/2016) 

Original decision made by the Director can be viewed here. 

A review was sought for an application for the conditional grant of a liquor store licence for 
premises to be known as “Con’s Liquor Geraldton”. 

In consideration of the evidence as a whole, the Director concluded that a large format 
packaged liquor store providing cheaper priced liquor in the proposed locality presented an 
unacceptable risk to vulnerable parts of the community in the area and subsequently refused 
the application. 

However, in its evaluation of the evidence, the Commission was of the opinion that the 
applicant’s business model was not based on catering for the requirements of consumers for 
lower cost products.  Nor, as a destination liquor store, was the business directed towards 
the immediate locality, which in fact is not a high residential area, but instead consists of 
large tracts of underdeveloped land.  The proposed premises would be operated by an 
experienced licensee who had operated a similar sized business in a similar sized town in 
country Western Australia.  Furthermore, the licensee would implement robust harm 
minimisation measures within an established business model. 

Geraldton is a large country town that has experienced considerable growth during the 
course of the mining boom. The Commission noted that the applicant had overstated the 
further growth within the Geraldton community as it was clear that the mining boom, which to 
a large degree precipitated the growth in Geraldton, was now over. However, there was 
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sufficient evidence before the Commission to conclude that growth would continue in the 
greater Geraldton area, just not at the rates previously seen during the mining boom. 
Furthermore, Geraldton is a major regional centre and regardless of its current economic 
status can, in the interests of catering for the requirements of consumers, be considered an 
appropriate location for a large format style of liquor store similar to those that already exist in 
other major regional centres, such as Albany and Bunbury. 

Notwithstanding the general evidence before the Commission relevant to an assessment of 
the potential of harm and ill-health issues, the Commission was satisfied that the likely 
degree of harm that would result from the granting of the application was low due to the 
experience and demonstrated operational capabilities of the applicant.   The application was 
granted. 

Kalahari, Clarkson (LC10/2016) 

Original decision made by the Director can be viewed here. 
 
An application was lodged with the Commission seeking a review of the refusal by the 
Director to grant a liquor store licence known as Kalahari Clarkson. 
 
The application for a liquor store licence was to offer exclusively South African liquor 
products in association with South African groceries currently being sold at the premises. 
 
The Commission found that no evidence was provided to prove there was a requirement for 
the variety of liquor proposed to be sold at the store beyond the general statement that “only 
stock that is being sought will be made available”.  It observed that the applicant had not 
clearly demonstrated to what degree the granting of this application would contribute to 
meeting a consumer requirement beyond that already being provided for within the 
locality.  The application, while identifying a particular market segment that would respond to 
a specialised product range, had not clearly established the extent of the market or the 
demand, nor had it clarified the level of current availability of such products from existing 
liquor outlets. 
 
Ultimately, the Commission was of the view that there was insufficient evidence to show that 
the current availability of South African liquor products in the locality was not meeting 
consumer requirements, albeit that there may be some specific products not readily available 
to a small section of the community.  Furthermore, the Commission was not satisfied that any 
increase in diversity has been demonstrated to the requisite degree.  
The application was refused. 

 

  

Page 37

Department of Racing, Gaming and Liquor 
Annual Report 2015-2016



 

 

Supreme Court Challenges 

Carine Glades Tavern, Duncraig  

On 27 July 2015, the Liquor Commission refused an application for approval of 
alteration/redefinition by Australian Leisure and Hospitality Group Pty Ltd of premises the 
Carine Glades Tavern in Duncraig.  The application sought approval for the refurbishment of 
the existing tavern and the replacement of the existing BWS bottle shop with a larger Dan 
Murphy’s liquor store. 

In its decision, the Commission found that approval of the application would result in an 
adverse impact on the amenity of the locality.  It found that the benefits for consumers were 
outweighed by the fact that: 

 There would be a reduction in the patron capacity of the tavern; 

 There was a First Choice liquor store approximately 1.2km away; and 

 There was a Dan Murphy’s liquor store 4km away. 

The Commission decided that it was not in the public interest to approve the application. 

The Commission’s decision to refuse the application was appealed to a single judge of the 
Supreme Court.  In upholding the appeal, the Supreme Court found that the Commission was 
required to evaluate the evidence, make findings and draw conclusions from the evidence, 
including by reference.  The Commission was bound to apply the public interest criterion to 
the findings it had made and the conclusions it had drawn.   However, the Supreme Court 
found that during the reasoning process the Commission failed to make findings, draw 
conclusions from the evidence as it was required to do so.  The application was referred back 
to the Commission for reconsideration. 

A remittal hearing for this application was heard before the Commission on 29 June 2016.  
The Commission reserved its decision. 
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Significant Issues Impacting the Agency 

Amendments to Liquor Control Act 1988 

The Liquor Legislation Amendment Bill 2015 was proclaimed on November 20, 2015.  The 
following is a summary of the major amendments that were introduced as a result of the Bill: 

 Secondary supply – where a person supplies liquor to a juvenile on an unlicensed 
premises without the consent of the young person’s parent or guardian, a $10,000 
penalty applies. 

 Section 40 – the Director can accept liquor licence applications without local 
government authority planning approval being provided at the time the application is 
lodged.  However, the application cannot be determined until the planning approval 
certificate has been provided by the applicant to the licensing authority, unless the 
licensing authority determines otherwise. 

 Extended trading for nightclubs and hotels – hotels can now trade until midnight on 
Sundays and nightclubs until 2am Monday morning, unless the licence is otherwise 
conditioned.  

 More flexibility for producers – a licensed wine producer can now establish a cellar 
door outlet, either with a collective of producers or on their own, within the same wine 
region as its production facilities exist.  The same applies to beer producers, as long as 
the outlet is located in the same local district as its production facilities. Producers will 
also be able to sell/supply liquor other than their own product if it is served with a meal 
or for the purpose of tastings. Producers can also take phone/internet orders from a 
place other than the licensed premises, while beer producers can sell their product for 
consumption on their premises. 

 Traversing unlicensed areas – patrons at licensed premises can now carry their drinks 
between two licensed areas of the same premises, such as when moving from the bar, 
across a footpath, to an alfresco area. 

During the reporting period, drafting of a Bill commenced to implement the second stage 
amendments to the Liquor Control Act 1988 emanating from the 2013 review.  The major 
amendments include: 
 
 Providing the licensing authority with the discretion to consider applications without 

having regard to the public interest assessment requirements provided under section 38 
of the Act; 

 Amending the secondary objects of the Act so consideration is also given by the 
licensing authority to responsible practices in the promotion, sale, supply and 
consumption of liquor; 

 Establishing a separate licence category for small bars and specifying that a premises 
licensed under a small bar licence may only have 120 patrons (not persons); 
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 Automatically allow restaurants with a limit of 120 patrons to serve liquor without a meal 
(currently an extended trading permit is required to allow this.  Restaurants with a 
capacity in excess of 120 patrons will still be required to obtain an extended trading 
permit); and 

 Extending the permitted trading hours on Sundays for liquor stores in major regional 
centres to enable them to trade from 10am until 10pm.   

It is anticipated that a Bill will be introduced into the Parliament during the second half of 
2016. 
 

Gambling Legislation Amendment Bill  

On 1 July 2013, Cabinet approved drafting of amendments to the: 
 
 Racing and Wagering Western Australia Act 2003; 

 Gaming and Wagering Commission Act 1987; 

 Betting Control Act 1954; and 

 Casino Control Act 1984. 

The major objectives of the amendments are to: 

 Implement the recommendations of the Joint Standing Committee on the Review of the 
Racing and Wagering Western Australia Acts; 

 Reduce the regulatory burden on business and the community; 

 Introduce additional consumer protection measures in respect of responsible gambling 
matters; and 

 Align with other Australian jurisdictions, the application of “bet backs” in relation to 
wagering operations under the racing bets levy scheme. 

 

Liquor Restrictions 
 

Restricted Area Regulations 
 
Section 175(1a) of the Liquor Control Act 1988 enables the Governor, on the 
recommendation of the Minister, to declare an area of the State a restricted area that 
prohibits the bringing in, possession and consumption of liquor in the declared area.  If a 
person commits an offence against the regulations, the penalties that apply are between 
$2000 and $5000.  
 
Restricted area declarations are currently the State Government’s preferred legislative 
mechanism for alcohol management in Aboriginal communities. 
 
As at 30 June 2016, 18 Aboriginal communities throughout the Kimberley, Pilbara and 
Goldfields-Esperance regions were declared restricted areas.  
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The Liquor Control (Ngalingkadji Restricted Area) Amendment Regulations 2016 came into 
effect on 9 April 2016 for a period of three years.  The regulations prohibit the bringing in, 
possession and consumption of liquor within the Ngalingkadji Aboriginal Community.  

Through consultation with communities and stakeholders with respect to extending the 
duration of a declared area, the Department is being advised that communities are seeing the 
effectiveness and benefits of restricting alcohol consumption through restricted area 
declarations.  During 2015-16, three communities had existing declarations extended.   

The following table details those communities throughout the State that are currently declared 
restricted areas: 

Kimberley 

Bayulu  (Expires 28/12/16) Looma (Expires 28/5/17) Pandanus Park (Expires 28/5/17) 

Juwurlinji (Expires 25/7/17) Wangkatjungka  (Expires 22/4/19) 

Koongie Park    (Expires 18/9/16) Nicholson Block (Expires 18/9/16) Yakanarra (Expires   1/5/18)

Kundat Djaru  (Expires 18/9/16) Noonkanbah  (Expires 25/7/17) 

Pilbara 

Cheeditha     (Expires 10/8/18) Jigalong (Expires 2/5/17) Punmu (Expires 4/12/16)

Irrungadji    (Expires 4/12/16) Kunawarritji (Expires 3/5/18) Warralong (Expires 21/9/16) 

Goldfields-Esperance 

Spinifex (Expires 2/7/17)

Transitional Housing and Support Program 

The Minister for Racing and Gaming was approached by the Minister for Mental Health 
seeking support to declare 15 dwellings that operate under the Transitional Housing and 
Support Program (THASP), liquor restricted areas pursuant to section 175(1a) of the Liquor 
Control Act 1988. 

The Transitional Housing and Support Program is a community-based housing program 
provided throughout the State by the Mental Health Commission and the Housing Authority 
for people with alcohol and other drug problems.  Participants who enter the program are 
required to abstain from alcohol and other drugs while residing in THASP accommodation.  

After consulting with the Commissioner of Police and relevant local government authorities, 
the Minister for Racing and Gaming recommended to the Governor, on 27 June 2016, that 
each THASP dwelling be declared a restricted area for a period of five years.  The Governor 
will consider the drafting of the regulations at the Executive Council meeting on 5 July 2016. 

Restricted Premises 

Part 5B of the Liquor Control Act 1988 enables the owner or occupier of a private premises or 
privately owned land to apply to the Director of Liquor Licensing to have the premises 
declared a restricted premises, making it an offence for a person to bring into, consume or 
possess liquor on those premises for a specified period. 

 (Expires 1 April 2019)Ngalingkadji 
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Section 152P(4) of the Act also allows for a prescribed class of person to apply for a 
declaration of a liquor restricted premises.  In this regard, the Chief Executive Officer of the 
Department for Child Protection is the only class of prescribed person in the regulations. 
 
As at 30 June 2016, a total of 346 premises were declared restricted by the Director.   
The following table details the locations and numbers of all declared premises in locations 
across the State: 
 

Kimberley 170 Pilbara 48 Gascoyne 5 

Broome 16 Baynton 1 Carnarvon 5 

Cable Beach 1 Karratha 3   

Derby 48 Marble Bar 1   

Fitzroy Crossing 24 Nickol 1   

Halls Creek 11 Newman 3   

Kununurra 47 Onslow 3   

Warmun 11 Port Hedland 3   

Wyndham 12 Roebourne 7   

  South Hedland 25   

  Wickham 1   

      
Goldfields-
Esperance 

47 Wheatbelt 9 Peel 2 

Boulder 7 Northam 6 Cassia 1 

Coolgardie 1 York 3 Coodanup 1 

Esperance 2     

Kalgoorlie 6     

Laverton  21     

Leonora 8     

Nulsen 1     

Somerville 1     

      

Midwest 42 Metropolitan 15 South West 2 

Cue 1 Bayswater 1 Collie 2 

Karloo 1 Beechboro 2   

Geraldton  2 Forrestfield 1   

Meekatharra 21 Gosnells 1   

Mt Magnet 2 Highgate 1   

Rangeway 1 Hamilton Hill 2 
Great Southern 6 

Spalding 1 Karawara 1 

Utakarra 1 Lockridge 1 Albany 1 

Wiluna 11 Maddington 1 Denmark 1 

Wonthella 1 Mosman Park 1 Katanning 2 

  Nollamara 2 Orana 1 

  Willagee 1 Spencer Park 1 
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Section 64 Enquiries 

Under section 64 of the Act, the Director of Liquor Licensing is authorised to act in the public 
interest to impose restrictions on the sale of liquor from licensed premises to address alcohol 
related harm. 

There is also a system of voluntary liquor accords in place in WA whereby licensees, Police, 
and other local agencies agree on a set of voluntary liquor restrictions.  As these accords are 
voluntary, their success depends on the will of the licensees to collectively abide by them.  
Under these two processes, all major Kimberley towns have liquor restrictions in operation. 

While the State Government’s position is that liquor restrictions in regional towns are useful in 
the short term as a circuit breaker to alcohol related harm, they are not a long term solution 
and more needs to be done by governments of all persuasions to identify and implement long 
term solutions that will address the underlying social issues. 

During the reporting period, there were no geographical areas or towns subject to new s64 
enquiries.  However, as at 30 June 2016, the following areas were subject to s64 restrictions: 

Agnew Kambalda Marble Bar Paraburdoo Wickham 

Boulder Karratha Mardie Pardoo Wiluna 

Coolgardie 
Kimberley 
Wide* 

Meekatharra Point Samson Wyndham 

Cue Kookynie Menzies Port Hedland Yalgoo 

Dampier Kumarina Mount Magnet 
Sandfire 
Roadhouse 

 

Derby Kununurra Newman Sandstone  

Fitzroy Crossing Laverton Nullagine South Hedland   

Halls Creek Leinster Onslow Tom Price  

Kalgoorlie Leonora Pannawonica Whim Creek  

*   Container restrictions applying to licences for premises north of 20 degrees south. 
 
 
 
 

An interactive map showing the location of all 
liquor restrictions in WA (imposed under 
section 64 and section 175 of the Act), with a 
description of each restriction is available on 
the Department’s website: 
http://www.rgl.wa.gov.au/maps/tourism.htm 
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During 2015-16, the Director determined section 64 enquiries in relation to: 

Quaraiding Hotel 

In July 2015, WA Police reported an incident where members of an Outlaw Motor Cycle 
Gang (OMCG) were permitted to enter and remain in the Quaraiding Hotel dressed in their 
‘colours’. 

A visit to the hotel’s premises by an officer from Quaraiding Police revealed that OMCG 
members were seen on two previous occasions drinking in the hotel while wearing their 
colours, and that the licensee had removed the dress standard policy from display at the 
premises.  The licensee was subsequently issued a notice, pursuant to section 64(2a) of the 
Act, requiring them to show cause why a condition prohibiting OMCG colours and insignia to 
be worn on the premises should not be imposed on the licence. 

After considering the licensee’s submission that no evidence exists of a causal link between 
the proposed condition being imposed and a reduction in alcohol related harm, the licensing 
authority decided that it was in the public interest for a notice to be displayed at all 
entrances to the Quaraiding Hotel specifying dress standards in relation to OMCG 
members.  A condition prohibiting OMCG colours and insignia to be worn on the premises 
was subsequently imposed.  

Pancho’s Mexican Villa Restaurants – East Victoria Park and Mount Lawley 

In July 2015, WA Police advised the licensing authority that advertising practices adopted by 
Pancho’s Mexican Villa restaurants in East Victoria Park and Mount Lawley conflicted with 
the harm minimisation objects of the Act and the manner of trade permitted under a 
restaurant licence. 

After the licensee was found to be advertising discounted liquor to the public, a notice was 
issued, pursuant to section 64(21) of the Act,  requiring them to show cause why a condition 
prohibiting the advertising of cheap or discounted liquor should not be imposed. 

After consideration was given to the licensee’s submissions regarding their responsible 
service of alcohol practices that included supplying discounted drinks only ancillary to a meal, 
the licensing authority found that discounted drinks feature prominently in the licensee’s 
promotions and advertising.  It was concluded that it was in the public interest to impose a 
condition on both licences prohibiting promotional activity in which alcoholic drinks were 
offered at a reduced price. 
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Barring Notices 
 
Barring notices are an effective mechanism that are used to bar people who display anti-
social behaviour on licensed premises from entering licensed venues for a specified period.  
A barring notice can be issued up to maximum period of 12 months. 
 
Section 115AA of the Liquor Control Act 1988 provides that the Commissioner of Police may 
give a barring notice to a person that prevents them from entering a particular licensed 
premises, or a specified class of licensed premises, if the person has engaged in violent, 
disorderly or indecent behaviour, or has contravened any written law while on a licensed 
premises. 
 
A $10,000 penalty applies to a person who is given a barring notice and fails to comply with 
that notice, unless the person is entering the premises solely for the purpose of performing 
duties related to their employment.  
 
During 2015-16, the Commissioner of Police issued 600 barring notices throughout the State 
compared with 613 barring notices issued during 2014-15.  As at 30 June 2016, there were 
1,063 active baring notices.   
 
The details of persons who are the subject of a barring notice are published on a secure 
website that is only accessible to licensees and approved managers. 
 

Prohibition Orders 
 
The aim of prohibition orders is to keep undesirable people, or persons associated with 
serious and/or organised crime, from entering or being employed on licensed premises.  
Essentially, the objective of a prohibition order is to protect the public from the unsavoury 
actions and activities that may be perpetrated by such individuals. 
 
Part 5A of the Liquor Control Act 1988 provides that the Commissioner of Police may apply to 
the Director of Liquor Licensing for a prohibition order to be made against a particular person.  
Prohibition orders can be issued to people who are involved in criminal or antisocial 
behaviour in or around licensed premises, or those whose employment in licensed premises 
is deemed to be problematic due to their involvement in serious and/or organised crime. 
 
People may be prohibited from: 
 
 Being employed by a licensee at a specified licensed premises, a particular class of 

licensed premises or any licensed premises; or 

 Entering a specified licensed premises, a specified class of licensed premises or any 
licensed premises. 

 
An application for a prohibition order under section 152B of the Act must establish the 
reasons a person should be prohibited, and must also provide any other information that is 
relevant to the issue. 
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The Director of Liquor Licensing is required to give written notice to the person who is subject 
to the application.  In this notification, the Director must: 
 
 State that a prohibition order notice has been made against the person; 

 Explain the proposed effect of the order; and  

 Afford reasonable opportunity for the person to make submissions in relation to the matter.   

However, the Act states that the Director must not disclose information that is deemed to be 
confidential by the Commissioner of Police. 
 
The Director may only impose a prohibition order if he/she is satisfied that doing so is in the 
public interest.  The maximum period that a prohibition order can be issued to an individual is 
five years, or two years for a juvenile. 
 
A $10,000 penalty applies to a person who is given a prohibition order and fails to comply with 
that order.  Similarly, a person given a copy of a prohibition order but who continues to employ 
the person subject to the order also commits an offence and faces a penalty of $10,000.  
Further, a responsible person in relation to licensed premises commits an offence if they are 
aware that a prohibition order has been made against someone in relation to that premises but 
nevertheless allows the person to enter or remain – a $10,000 penalty applies. 
 
There were 35 prohibition orders issued in 2015-16, compared with 32 issued during 2014-15.  
As at 30 June 2016, there were 191 active prohibition orders.  Further details are available on 
the department’s website at:  https://portal.rgl.wa.gov.au/prohibitionorders  
 

 

Attendances at Conferences and Meetings 
 
Senior officers from the Department attended the following conferences during 2015-16: 
 

 The Deputy Director General attended the Electronic Gaming Machine National Standards 
working party meeting and Australasian Gaming Expo in Sydney in August 2015. 

 

 The Director General attended the Australasian Liquor Licensing Authorities Forum in 
Darwin in November 2015. 

 

 The Director General attended the CEOs Forum and Annual Australasian Casino and 
Gaming Regulators Conference in Sydney in February 2016. 

 

 The Deputy Director General attended meetings in Sydney to review casino audit and 
inspection processes, risk mitigation strategies, and a leadership conference in March 
2016.   

 The Director General attended the Senior Officers Working Group Illegal Offshore 
Wagering Reform meeting in Canberra in June 2016. 
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Changes in Legislation 

Changes to Regulations 

 On 8 August 2015, amendments were made by the Liquor Control Amendment 
Regulations 2015 that prescribe powdered alcohol as liquor under the Liquor Control Act 
1988;   

 As a consequence of amendments made to the Liquor Control Act 1988 on 20 November 
2015, application fees were established by the Liquor Control Amendment Regulations 
(No. 2) 2016 for a new type of extended trading permit that allows one or more producers 
to operate a single cellar door outlet within the same area as their production facilities.  
The amendment regulations also provide clarification that wholesalers, producers and 
holders of special facility licences are only required to provide the licensing authority with 
data relating to the sale or disposal of liquor to liquor merchants in Western Australia;    

 On 2 December 2015, amendments were made by the Gaming and Wagering 
Commission Amendment Regulations 2015 that extend the timeframe from seven to 14 
days in which clubs are required to lodge a financial return in respect of a game of two-
up; 

 On 7 December 2015, amendments were made by the Liquor Control Amendment 
Regulations (No. 2) 2015 that prescribe liqueur chocolate as liquor under the Liquor 
Control Act 1988; 

 New fees and charges effective 1 January 2016 were introduced by the Racing, Gaming 
and Liquor Regulations Amendment (Fees and Charges) Regulations 2015; 

 On 1 March 2016, amendments were made by the Racing and Wagering Western 
Australia Amendment Regulations 2016 prescribing reduced payment rates to the Sports 
Wagering Account for the period 1 April 2016 to 31 July 2017; 

 On 1 March 2016, amendments were made by the Racing and Wagering Western 
Australia Amendment Regulations (No. 2) 2016 that enable RWWA and on-course 
totalisators to pay the same minimum dividend for both combined and non-combined 
totalisator pools; 

 As a consequence of the Racing and Wagering Western Australia Amendment 
Regulations (No. 2) 2016, the Betting Control Amendment Regulations (No. 2) 2016 were 
implemented to provide for the same minimum dividends for race clubs utilising the non-
combined pools operated by RWWA; and 

 On 13 May 2016, amendments were made by the Betting Control Amendment 
Regulations 2016 to recognise changes in technology whereby patrons attending a 
racecourse to place a bet through their RWWA wagering account using a mobile device 
and a telecommunications network will have their bet treated as an on-course bet.  Bets 
placed on-course provide a direct financial benefit to the race clubs.  

 On 24 June 2016, amendments were made by the Racing and Wagering Western 
Australia Amendment Regulations (No. 3) 2016 to provide for the use of current 
technology and support contemporary consumer practices with regard to the storage and 
presentation of tickets.  
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RESTRICTED AREA REGULATIONS  

 The Liquor Control (Cheeditha Restricted Area) Amendment Regulations 2015 came into 
effect on 29 July 2015 and will expire on 10 August 2018.  The regulations prohibit the 
bringing in, possession and consumption of liquor within the Cheeditha Aboriginal 
Community;   

 The Liquor Control (Ngalingkadji Restricted Area) Amendment Regulations 2016 and the 
Liquor Control Amendment Regulations 2016 came into effect on 9 April 2016 and will 
expire on 1 April 2019.  The regulations prohibit the bringing in, possession and 
consumption of liquor within the Ngalingkadji Aboriginal Community;   

 The Liquor Control (Wangkatjungka Restricted Area) Amendment Regulations 2016 
came into effect on 5 March 2016 and extend the restricted area regulations for the 
Wangkatjungka Aboriginal Community until 22 April 2019; and  

 The Liquor Control (Bayulu Restricted Area) Amendment Regulations 2016 came into 
effect on 28 May 2016 and extend the restricted area regulations for the Bayulu 
Aboriginal Community until 28 December 2016 while the community considers whether it 
wishes to have the regulations extended for a further three year.
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Disclosures and Legal Compliance 

Financial Statements 
 

The aim of the Financial Statements is to present to the Parliament details of revenue and 
expenditure for the Department of Racing, Gaming and Liquor in the format determined by 
Statement of Accounting Standard AAS 29: Financial Reporting by Government 
Departments.  It should be noted that: 

 The Department of Racing, Gaming and Liquor is a Department as defined under the  
Public Sector Management Act 1994; 

 
 These financial statements have been prepared on an accrual basis in accordance with the 

provisions of the Financial Management Act 2006; and 
 
 The Department provides financial management and other corporate services to the 

Gaming and Wagering Commission, the Racing Penalties Appeal Tribunal and the Liquor 
Commission. 

 
Certification of Financial Statements  

For the year ended 30 June 2016 

The accompanying financial statements of the Department of Racing, Gaming and Liquor 
have been prepared in compliance with the provisions of the Financial Management Act 
2006 from proper accounts and records to present fairly the financial transactions for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2016, and the financial position as at 30 June 2016. 

At the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances which would render the 
particulars included in the financial statements misleading or inaccurate.  

 

 
 

Barry A Sargeant Terry Ng 
Director General Chief Finance Officer 
 

13 September 2016 

 

13 September 2016 
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DEPARTMENT OF RACING, GAMING AND LIQUOR
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016

Note 2016 2015
 $000 $000

COST OF SERVICES
Expenses 
Employee benefits expense 6 10,836 10,534
Supplies and services 7 3,042 3,754
Depreciation and amortisation expense 8 1,238 849
Accommodation expenses 9 1,325 1,328
Other expenses  10 267 415
Total cost of services 16,708 16,880

Income
Revenue 
User charges and fees 11 11,109 11,080
Total revenue 11,109 11,080

Total income other than income 
from State Government 11,109 11,080

NET COST OF SERVICES 24 5,599 5,800

Income from State Government 12

Service appropriation  5,562 5,351
Services received free of charge  73 72
Total income from State Government 5,635 5,423

SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD 36 (377)               

Total other comprehensive income 0 0

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD 36 (377)               

The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
 

          

See also the 'Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service'. 
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DEPARTMENT OF RACING, GAMING AND LIQUOR
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION  
AS AT 30 JUNE 2016

Note 2016 2015
$000 $000

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 24 27 508
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 13, 24 3 302
Receivables 14 179 219
Amounts receivable for services (Holding Account) 15 0 0
Total Current Assets 209 1,029

Non-Current Assets
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 13, 24 0 0
Amounts receivable for services (Holding Account) 15 3,164 2,697
Plant and equipment 16 280 430
Intangible assets 17 7,714 8,802
Total Non-Current Assets 11,158 11,929

TOTAL ASSETS 11,367 12,958

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Payables 19 658 1,770
Provisions 20 2,019 1,420
Other current liabilities 21 474 1,340
Total Current Liabilities 3,151 4,530

Non-Current Liabilities
Provisions 20 516 764
Total Non-Current Liabilities 516 764

TOTAL LIABILITIES 3,667 5,294

NET ASSETS 7,700 7,664

EQUITY 22
Contributed equity 6,480 6,480
Accumulated surplus/(deficit)  1,220 1,184

TOTAL EQUITY 7,700 7,664

 

 
See also the 'Schedule of Assets and Liabilities by Service'. 
 

The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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DEPARTMENT OF RACING, GAMING AND LIQUOR
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016

 Accumulated
Contributed surplus/

Note equity Reserves (deficit) Total equity
$000 $000 $000 $000

Balance at 1 July 2014 22 6,480 0 1,561 8,041

Changes in accounting policy or correction of 0 0 0 0
prior period errors

Restated balance at 1 July 2014   6,480 0 1,561 8,041

Surplus/(deficit) 0 0               (377)                   (377)
Other comprehensive income 0 0 0 0

Total comprehensive income for the period 0 0               (377)                   (377)

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:

Capital appropriations 0 0 0 0
Other contributions by owners 0 0 0 0
Distributions to owners 0 0 0 0

Total 0 0 0 0

Balance at 30 June 2015 6,480 0 1,184 7,664

Balance at 1 July 2015 6,480 0 1,184 7,664

Surplus/(deficit) 0 0 36 36
Other comprehensive income 0 0 0 0

Total comprehensive income for the period 0 0 36 36

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:

Capital appropriations 0 0 0 0
Other contributions by owners 0 0 0 0
Distributions to owners 0 0 0 0

Total 0 0 0 0
Balance at 30 June 2016 6,480 0 1,220 7,700

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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DEPARTMENT OF RACING, GAMING AND LIQUOR
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016

Note 2016 2015
$000 $000

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Service appropriation  5,095 4,884
Holding account drawdowns  0 250
Net cash provided by State Government 5,095 5,134

Utilised as follows:

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Employee benefits (10,956)         (10,462)         
Supplies and services  (3,466)           (3,530)           
Accommodation (1,427)           (1,099)           
GST payments on purchases (697)              (702)              
GST payments to taxation authority (47)                (77)                
Other payments (168)              (41)                

Receipts  
User charges and fees  10,235 12,868
Other revenues 25 27
GST receipts on sales 47 77
GST receipts from taxation authority 700 802
Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities 24 (5,754)           (2,137)           

  
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Payments     
Purchase of non-current assets (190)              (2,469)           
Payments from fees in trust               (163) (497)              

Receipts
Proceeds from fees in trust 232 466
Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities (121)              (2,500)           

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (780)              497

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 810 313

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE PERIOD 24 30 810
  

  

The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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DEPARTMENT OF RACING, GAMING AND LIQUOR
SCHEDULE OF INCOME AND EXPENSES BY SERVICE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016

Licensing - Evaluation and
Total

2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

COST OF SERVICES
Expenses

Employee benefits expense 5,418 5,267 5,418 5,267 10,836 10,534
Supplies and services 1,521 1,877 1,521 1,877 3,042 3,754
Depreciation and amortisation expense 619 425 619 424 1,238 849
Accommodation expenses 662 664 663 664 1,325 1,328
Other expenses  134 207 133 208 267 415

Total cost of services 8,354 8,440 8,354 8,440 16,708 16,880

Income     
User charges and fees 6,136 5,964 4,973 5,116 11,109 11,080     

Total income other than income from State Government 6,136 5,964 4,973 5,116 11,109 11,080

NET COST OF SERVICES 2,218 2,476 3,381 3,324 5,599 5,800

Income from State Government
Service appropriation 2,208 2,301 3,354 3,050 5,562 5,351
Services received free of charge 29 31 44 41 73 72

Total income from State Government 2,237 2,332 3,398 3,091 5,635 5,423

SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD 19 (144) 17 (233) 36 (377)

The Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

determination of applications and inspections
Compliance audits
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DEPARTMENT OF RACING, GAMING AND LIQUOR
SCHEDULE OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BY SERVICE

AS AT 30 JUNE 2016  

Licensing - Evaluation and
Total

2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Assets
Current assets 105 514 104 515 209 1,029
Non-current assets 5,579 5,965 5,579 5,964 11,158 11,929
Total assets 5,684 6,479 5,683 6,479 11,367 12,958

Liabilities     
Current liabilities 1,576 2,265 1,575 2,265 3,151 4,530
Non-current liabilities 258 382 258 382 516 764

Total liabilities 1,834 2,647 1,833 2,647 3,667 5,294

NET ASSETS 3,850 3,832 3,850 3,832 7,700 7,664

The Schedule of Assets and Liabilities by Service should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Compliance audits
determination of applications and inspections
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DEPARTMENT OF RACING, GAMING AND LIQUOR
SUMMARY OF CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNT APPROPRIATIONS AND INCOME ESTIMATES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016

2016 2016 2016 2015
Estimate Actual Variance Actual Actual Variance

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Delivery Services

Item 115 Net amount appropriated to deliver services 5,256 5,256 0 5,256 5,053 203

Amount Authorised by Other Statutes 
  - Salaries and Allowances Act 1975 306 306 0 306 298 8
Total appropriations provided to deliver services 5,562 5,562 0 5,562 5,351 211

CAPITAL

Capital appropriations 0 0 0 0 0 0

Administered Transactions

Item 116 Administered grants, subsidies and other transfer payments 70,852 51,903 18,949 51,903 99,415 (47,512)

Amount Authorised by Other Statutes
  - Liquor Control Act 1988 750 725 25 725 2,255 (1,530)
Total administered transactions 71,602 52,628 18,974 52,628 101,670 (49,042)
GRAND TOTAL  77,164 58,190 18,974 58,190 107,021 (48,831)

Details of Expenses by Service

Service 1 : Licensing - Evaluation and determination of applications 7,557 8,354 (797) 8,354 8,440 (86)
Service 2 : Compliance audits and inspections 7,557 8,354 (797) 8,354 8,440 (86)
Total Cost of Services 15,114 16,708 (1,594) 16,708 16,880 (172)
Less total income (9,682) (11,109) 1,427 (11,109) (11,080) (29)
Net Cost of Services 5,432 5,599 (167) 5,599 5,800 (201)
Adjustments 130 (37) 167 (37) (449) 412
Total appropriations provided to deliver services 5,562 5,562 0 5,562 5,351 211

Capital Expenditure

Purchase of non-current assets 0 0 0 0 2,262 (2,262)
Adjustments for other funding sources 0 0 0 0 (2,262) 2,262
Capital appropriations 0 0 0 0 0 0

Details of Income Estimates

Income disclosed as Administered Income
Taxes and licences
       Casino Tax 81,400 64,863 16,537 64,863 110,284 (45,421)

Adjustments comprise movements in cash balances and other accrual items such as receivables, payables and superannuation.

Note 28 'Explanatory statement' and Note 34 'Explanatory statement for Administered Items' provide details of any significant variations between estimates and actual results
for 2016 and between the actual results for 2016 and 2015.
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  Note 1. Australian Accounting Standards
General

 
 
 

 Note 2. Summary of significant accounting policies

 (a) General statement
 

 (b) Basis of preparation

 (c) Reporting entity

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                          

The financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting using the historical cost convention.  
 
The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements have been consistently applied throughout all 
periods presented unless otherwise stated. 
 
The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars 
($'000). 
 
Note 3 'Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies’ discloses judgements that have been made in 
the process of applying the Department's accounting policies resulting in the most significant effect on amounts recognised in 
the financial statements. 
 
Note 4 ‘Key sources of estimation uncertainty’ discloses key assumptions made concerning the future, and other key sources 
of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year. 

  

The Department’s financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2016 have been prepared in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards. The term ‘Australian Accounting Standards’ includes Standards and Interpretations issued by the 
Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB).  
 
The Department has adopted any applicable new and revised Australian Accounting Standards from their operative dates. 
 
Early adoption of standards 
The Department cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by TI 1101 Application 
of Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements. Partial exemption permitting early adoption of AASB 2015-7 
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Fair Value Disclosures of Not-for-Profit Public Sector Entities has been 
granted.  Aside from AASB 2015-7, there has been no early adoption of any other Australian Accounting Standards that 
have been issued or amended (but not operative) by the Department for the annual reporting period ended 30 June 2016. 

The reporting entity comprises the Department only. 
 
Mission 
To regulate the liquor and gambling industries in Western Australia 
 
The Department is partly funded by Parliamentary appropriations. During 2015-16, the Department provided financial 
management and other corporate support services to other agencies that are charged out on a full cost recovery basis: 
- Racing Penalties Appeal Tribunal; and 
- Gaming and Wagering Commission of Western Australia. 

 The Department is a not-for-profit reporting entity that prepares general purpose financial statements in accordance with 
Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statements of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative 
pronouncements of the AASB as applied by the Treasurer's instructions.  Several of these are modified by the Treasurer's 
instructions to vary application, disclosure, format and wording. 
   
The Financial Management Act  2006 and the Treasurer's instructions impose legislative provisions that govern the 
preparation of financial statements and take precedence over Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statements 
of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of the AASB.   
 
Where modification is required and has had a material or significant financial effect upon the reported results, details of that 
modification and the resulting financial effect are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. 
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 (d) Contributed equity

 (e) Income
Revenue recognition

Sale of goods

Provision of services

 Service appropriations

 Net Appropriation Determination

Gains

Service Appropriations are recognised as revenues at fair value in the period in which the Department gains control of the 
appropriated funds.  The Department gains control of appropriated funds at the time those funds are deposited to the bank 
account or credited to the ‘Amounts receivable for services’ (holding account) held at Treasury.   

The Treasurer may make a determination providing for prescribed receipts to be retained for services under the control of the 
Department. In accordance with the most recent determination, as quantified in the 2015-16 Budget Statements, the 
Department retained $11.11 million ($11.08 million in 2015) from the following: 
 
* proceeds from the provision of services to the racing and gaming Industries; 
* proceeds from the provision of services to the Commonwealth in respect of Indian Ocean Territories; and 
* liquor fees and other revenue. 

Services 
The Department provides the following services: 
 
Service 1 : Licensing - Evaluation and determination of applications 
 *Receive, process and determine applications in accordance with the legislation. 
 
Service 2 : Compliance audits and inspections 
*Perform audits and inspections to verify that the provision of gambling and liquor is conducted in a responsible and lawful 
manner. 
 
The Department administers assets, liabilities, income and expenses on behalf of Government which are not controlled by, 
nor integral, to the function of the Department.  These administered balances and transactions are not recognised in the 
principal financial statements of the Department but schedules are prepared using the same basis as the financial 
statements and are presented at note 34 ‘Disclosure of administered income and expenses’ and note 35 ‘Administered 
assets and liabilities’. 

Revenue is recognised and measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable. Revenue is recognised for the 
major business activities as follows: 

Revenue is recognised from the sale of goods and disposal of other assets when the significant risks and rewards of 
ownership transfer to the purchaser and can be measured reliably. 

Revenue is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction. 

Realised or unrealised gains are usually recognised on a net basis. These include gains arising on the disposal of non-
current assets. 

 AASB Interpretation 1038 Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities requires transfers in the 
nature of equity contributions, other than as a result of a restructure of administrative arrangements, to be designated by the 
Government (the owner) as contributions by owners (at the time of, or prior to transfer) before such transfers can be 
recognised as equity contributions.  Capital appropriations have been designated as contributions by owners by TI 955 
Contributions by Owners made to Wholly Owned Public Sector Entities and have been credited directly to Contributed equity.  
  
The transfer of net assets to/from other agencies, other than as a result of a restructure of administrative arrangements, are 
designated as contributions by owners where the transfers are non-discretionary and non-reciprocal. 
 

Grants, donations, gifts and other non-reciprocal contributions 
 
Revenue is recognised at fair value when the Department obtains control over the assets comprising the contributions, 
usually when cash is received. 
  
Other non-reciprocal contributions that are not contributions by owners are recognised at their fair value. Contributions of 
services are only recognised when a fair value can be reliably determined and the services would be purchased if not 
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 (f) Plant and equipment
Capitalisation/expensing of assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Subsequent measurement

 Depreciation  

 (g) Intangible Assets
Capitalisation/expensing of assets

 

All non-current assets having a limited useful life are systematically depreciated over their estimated useful lives in a manner 
that reflects the consumption of their future economic benefits. 
 
Depreciation is calculated using the straight line method, using rates which are reviewed annually. Estimated useful lives for 
each class of depreciable asset are: 
      
Furniture equipment           10  -  15 years                
Office equipment                  3  -  20 years                      

 
Plant and equipment are initially recognised at cost. 
 
For items of plant and equipment acquired at no cost or for nominal consideration, the cost is the fair value at the date of 
acquisition. 
 

Subsequent to initial recognition as an asset, the Department uses the historical cost model for the measurement of plant 
and equipment. Plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses. 

Acquisitions of intangible assets costing $5,000 or more and internally generated intangible assets costing $50,000 or more 
are capitalised.  The cost of utilising the assets is expensed (amortised) over their useful lives. Costs incurred below these 
thresholds are immediately expensed directly to the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 
 
Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost.  For assets acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, the cost is their fair value 
at the date of acquisition. 
 
The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement requiring the asset to be carried at cost less any accumulated 
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. 
 
Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is calculated for the period of the expected benefit (estimated useful 
life which is reviewed annually) on the straight line basis. All intangible assets controlled by the Department have a finite 
useful life and zero residual value.  
 
The expected useful lives for computer software is five to ten years. 
 
Licences 
Licences have a finite useful life and are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. 
 
Development costs 
Research costs are expensed as incurred. Development costs incurred for an individual project are carried forward when the 
future economic benefits can reasonably be regarded as assured and the total project costs are likely to exceed $50,000. 
Other development costs are expensed as incurred. 
 
Computer Software 
Software that is an integral part of the related hardware is treated as plant and equipment. Software that is not an integral 
part of the related hardware is recognised as an intangible asset. Software costing less than $5,000 is expensed in the year 
of acquisition. 
 
Website costs 
Website costs are charged as expenses when they are incurred unless they relate to the acquisition or development of an 
asset when they may be capitalised and amortised. Generally, costs in relation to feasibility studies during the planning 
phase of a website, and ongoing costs of maintenance during the operating phase are expensed. Costs incurred in building 
or enhancing a website that can be reliably measured, are capitalised to the extent that they represent probable future 
economic benefits. 
 

Items of plant and equipment costing $5,000 or more are recognised as assets and the cost of utilising assets is expensed 
(depreciated) over their useful lives.  Items of plant and equipment costing less than $5,000 are immediately expensed direct 
to the Statement of Comprehensive Income (other than where they form part of a group of similar items which are significant 
in total). 
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 (h) Impairment of assets

 (i) Leases

 (j) Financial instruments

 (k) Cash and cash equivalents

 (l) Accrued salaries

 (m) Amounts receivable for services (holding account)

 (n) Receivables 

 (o) Payables

Receivables are recognised at original invoice amount less an allowance for any uncollectible amounts (i.e. impairment).  
The collectability of receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis and any receivables identified as uncollectible are written off 
against the allowance account.  The allowance for uncollectible amounts (doubtful debts) is raised when there is objective 
evidence that the Department will not be able to collect the debts.  The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value as it is due 
for settlement within 30 days.   
 

For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalent (and restricted cash and cash equivalent) assets 
comprise cash on hand. 

The Department holds operating leases for motor vehicles, office accommodation and office equipment. Lease payments are 
expensed on a straight line basis over the lease term as this represents the pattern of benefits derived from the leased 
properties. 

Payables are recognised at the amounts payable when the Department becomes obliged to make future payments as a 
result of a purchase of assets or services. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value, as settlement is generally within 
30 days. 

Accrued salaries (see note 19 ‘Payables’) represent the amount due to staff but unpaid at the end of the financial year. 
Accrued salaries are settled within a fortnight of the financial year end.  The Department considers the carrying amount of 
accrued salaries to be equivalent to its fair value. 
 
The accrued salaries suspense account (see note 13 ‘Restricted cash and cash equivalents') consists of amounts paid 
annually into a suspense account over a period of 10 financial years to largely meet the additional cash outflow in each 
eleventh year when 27 pay days occur instead of the normal 26.  No interest is received on this account.   

Plant and equipment, and intangible assets are tested for any indication of impairment at the end of each reporting period. 
Where there is an indication of impairment, the recoverable amount is estimated. Where the recoverable amount is less than 
the carrying amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to the recoverable amount and an impairment 
loss is recognised.  Where an asset measured at cost is written down to recoverable amount, an impairment loss is 
recognised in profit or loss. Where a previously revalued asset is written down to recoverable amount, the loss is recognised 
as a revaluation decrement in other comprehensive income. As the Department is a not-for-profit entity, unless a specialised 
asset has been identified as a surplus asset, the recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell 
and depreciated replacement cost. 
 
 
The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances where an asset's depreciation is materially understated, where 
the replacement cost is falling or where there is a significant change in useful life. Each relevant class of assets is reviewed 
annually to verify that the accumulated depreciation/amortisation reflects the level of consumption or expiration of  the  
asset's future economic benefits and to evaluate any impairment risk from falling replacement costs. 
 
Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment at the 
end of each reporting period irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment. 
 
The recoverable amount of assets identified as surplus assets is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and the present 
value of future cash flows expected to be derived from the asset. Surplus assets carried at fair value have no risk of material 
impairment where fair value is determined by reference to market-based evidence.  Where fair value is determined by 
reference to depreciated replacement cost, surplus assets are at risk of impairment and the recoverable amount is 
measured.  Surplus assets at cost are tested for indications of impairment at the end of each reporting period. 
 

In addition to cash, the Department has two categories of financial instrument: 
 
* Receivables; and 
* Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost. 
 
Financial instruments have been disaggregated into the following classes: 
 
* Financial Assets 
   - Cash and cash equivalents 
   - Restricted cash and cash equivalents 
   - Receivables 
   - Amounts receivable for services 
 
* Financial Liabilities 
   - Payables 
 
Initial recognition and measurement of financial instruments is at fair value which normally equates to the transaction cost or 
the face value. Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
 
The fair value of short-term receivables and payables is the transaction cost or the face value because there is no interest 
rate applicable and subsequent measurement is not required as the effect of discounting is not material. 
 

The Department receives funding on an accrual basis. The appropriations are paid partly in cash and partly as an asset 
(holding account receivable). The accrued amount receivable is accessible on the emergence of the cash funding 
requirement to cover leave entitlements and asset replacement. 
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 (p) Provisions 

Provisions  - employee benefits

Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing or amount and are recognised where there is a present legal or constructive 
obligation as a result of a past event and when the outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is probable and a 
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.  Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period.  

All annual leave and long service leave provisions are in respect of employees' services up to the end of the reporting 
period. 
 
Annual  leave  
Annual leave is not expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the reporting period and is therefore 
considered to be ‘other long-term employee benefits’. The annual leave liability is recognised and measured at the present 
value of amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the 
time of settlement. 
  
When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels including non-
salary components such as employer superannuation contributions, as well as the experience of employee departures and 
periods of service. The expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the end of the reporting period on 
national government bonds with terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows. 
 
The provision for annual leave is classified as a current liability as the Department does not have an unconditional right to 
defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period. 
 
Long service leave 
Long service leave is not expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the reporting period and is 
therefore recognised and measured at the present value of amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled 
using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement. 
  
When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels including non-
salary components such as employer superannuation contributions, as well as the experience of employee departures and 
periods of service. The expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the end of the reporting period on 
national government bonds with terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows. 
  
Unconditional long service leave provisions are classified as current liabilities as the Department does not have an 
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period. Pre-
conditional and conditional long service leave provisions are classified as non-current liabilities because the Department 
has an unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability until the employee has completed the requisite years of 
service. 
 
Sick Leave 
Liabilities for sick leave are recognised when it is probable that sick leave paid in the future will be greater than the 
entitlement that will accrue in the future. 
 
Past history indicates that on average, sick leave taken each reporting period is less than the entitlement accrued.  This is 
expected to continue in future periods.  Accordingly, it is unlikely that existing accumulated entitlements will be used by 
employees and no liability for unused sick leave entitlements is recognised.  As sick leave is non-vesting, an expense is 
recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income for this leave as it is taken. 
 
Purchased Leave 
The provision for purchased leave relates to Public Service employees who have entered into an agreement to self-fund up 
to an additional 10 weeks leave per calendar year.  The provision recognises the value of salary set aside for employees 
and is measured at the undiscounted amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.   
 
Superannuation 
The Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB) and other fund providers administer public sector 
superannuation arrangements in Western Australia in accordance with legislative requirements. Eligibility criteria for 
membership in particular schemes for public sector employees vary according to commencement and implementation 
dates. 
  
Eligible employees contribute to the Pension Scheme, a defined benefit pension scheme closed to new members since 
1987, or the Gold State Superannuation Scheme (GSS), a defined benefit lump sum scheme closed to new members since 
1995. 
  
Employees commencing employment prior to 16 April 2007 who were not members of either the Pension Scheme or the 
GSS became non-contributory members of the West State Superannuation Scheme (WSS). Employees commencing 
employment on or after 16 April 2007 became members of the GESB Super Scheme (GESBS). From 30 March 2012, 
existing members of the WSS or GESBS and new employees have been able to choose their preferred superannuation 
fund provider. The Department makes contributions to GESB or other fund providers on behalf of employees in compliance 
with the Commonwealth Government’s Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) Act 1992. Contributions to these 
accumulation schemes extinguish the Department’s liability for superannuation charges in respect of employees who are 
not members of the Pension Scheme or GSS. 
 
The GSS is a defined benefit scheme for the purposes of employees and whole-of-government reporting. However, it is a 
defined contribution plan for agency purposes because the concurrent contributions (defined contributions) made by the 
Department to GESB extinguishes the agency’s obligations to the related superannuation liability.  
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Provisions  - Other

(q) Superannuation expense

(r) Assets and services received free of charge or for nominal cost
  

 (s) Fees in trust

 (t) Comparative figures

 Note 3. Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies

 
 
 

 Note 4. Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Assets or services received free of charge or for nominal cost that the Department would otherwise purchase if not donated, 
are recognised as income at the fair value of the assets or services where they can be reliably measured. A corresponding 
expense is recognised for services received. Receipts of assets are recognised in the Statement of Financial Position. 
 
Assets or services received from other State Government agencies are separately disclosed under Income from State 
Government in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 
 

Comparative figures are, where appropriate, reclassified to be comparable with the figures presented in the current financial 
year. 

Fees in trust mainly represent the outstanding balances of liquor licence fees related to Christmas and Cocos Islands. 

Employment on-costs 
 
Employment on-costs, including workers’ compensation insurance, are not employee benefits and are recognised separately 
as liabilities and expenses when the employment to which they relate has occurred.  Employment on-costs are included as 
part of ‘Other expenses’ and are not included as part of the Department’s ‘Employee benefits expense’.  The related liability 
is included in ‘Employment on-costs provision’.   
 
Remediation Costs 
 
A provision is recognised where the Department has a legal or constructive obligation to undertake remediation work.  
Estimates are based on the present value of expected future cash outflows. 

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements about the application of accounting 
policies that have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.  The Department evaluates 
these judgements regularly. 
 
Operating Lease Commitments 
The Department has entered into a number of commercial lease arrangements for motor vehicles, office accommodation 
and office equipment and has determined that the lessor retains substantially all the significant risks and rewards incidental 
to ownership. Accordingly, these leases have been classified as operating leases. 
 

Key estimates and assumptions concerning the future are based on historical experience and various other factors that have 
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the next financial 
year. 
 
Long Service Leave 
Several estimations and assumptions used in calculating the Department's long service leave provision include expected 
future salary rates, discount rates, employee retention rates and expected future payments. Changes in these estimations 
and assumptions may impact on the carrying amount of the long service leave provision. 

Superannuation expense is recognised in the profit or loss of the Statement of Comprehensive Income and comprises 
employer contributions paid to the GSS (concurrent contributions), the WSS, the GESBS, or other superannuation funds. 
The employer contribution paid to the GESB in respect of the GSS is paid back into the Consolidated Account by the GESB. 
 

The Department has no liabilities under the Pension Scheme or the GSS. The liabilities for the unfunded Pension Scheme 
and the unfunded GSS transfer benefits attributable to members who transferred from the Pension Scheme, are assumed 
by the Treasurer. All other GSS obligations are funded by concurrent contributions made by the Department to the GESB.  
 
The GESB makes all benefit payments in respect of the Pension Scheme and GSS, and is recouped from the Treasurer for 
the employer’s share.   
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 Note 5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates

AASB 2013-9

AASB 2014-8

AASB 2015-3

AASB 2015-7

  Operative for
 reporting periods

 beginning 
on/after   

AASB 9
 

 

AASB 15
 

AASB 16
 

Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard 
 
The Department has applied the following Australian Accounting Standards effective, or adopted, for annual reporting 
periods beginning on or after 1 July 2015 that impacted on the Department. 

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Conceptual Framework, Materiality and Financial 
Instruments 
 
Part C of this Standard defers the application of AASB 9 to 1 January 2017. The application date of AASB 9 
was subsequently deferred to 1 January 2018 by AASB 2014-1. The Department has not yet determined 
the application or the potential impact of AASB 9. 

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Withdrawal of AASB 1031 Materiality 
 
This Standard completes the withdrawal of references to AASB 1031 in all Australian Accounting Standards 
and Interpretations, allowing that Standard to effectively be withdrawn. There is no financial impact. 
 

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards Fair Value Disclosures of Not-for-Profit Public Sector 
Entities [AASB 13] 
 
This Standard relieves not-for-profit public sector entities from the reporting burden associated with various 
disclosures required by AASB 13 for assets within the scope of AASB 116 that are held primarily for their 
current service potential rather than to generate future net cash inflows. It has no financial impact. 
 

1 Jan 2018 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Financial Instruments 
 
This Standard supersedes AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement, introducing a number of changes to accounting treatments. 
 
The mandatory application date of this Standard is currently 1 January 2018 after 
being amended by AASB 2012-6, AASB 2013-9 and AASB 2014-1 Amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards. The Department has not yet determined the 
application or the potential impact of the Standard. 

1 Jan 2018 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Revenue from Contracts with Customers 
 
This Standard establishes the principles that the Department shall apply to report 
useful information to users of financial statements about the nature, amount, timing 
and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from a contract with a customer. 
The Department has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the 
Standard. 

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2014) – Application of 
AASB 9 (December 2009) and AASB 9 (December 2010) [AASB 9 (2009 & 2010)] 
 
This Standard makes amendments to AASB 9 Financial Instruments (December 2009) and AASB 9 
Financial Instruments (December 2010), arising from the issuance of AASB 9 Financial Instruments in 
December 2014. The Department has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of AASB 9. 

Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative  
 
The Department cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by TI 1101 Application 
of Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements or by an exemption from TI 1101. By virtue of a limited 
exemption, the Department has early adopted AASB 2015-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Fair Value 
Disclosures of Not-for-Profit Public Sector Entities. Where applicable, the Department plans to apply the following Australian 
Accounting Standards from their application date. 
 

1 Jan 2019 
 
 
 
 

Leases 
 
This Standard introduces a single lessee accounting model and requires a lessee to 
recognise assets and liabilities for all leases with a term of more than 12 months, 
unless the underlying asset is of low value. The Department has not yet determined 
the application or the potential impact of the Standard. 
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  Operative for
 reporting periods

 beginning 
on/after   

AASB 1057
 

AASB 2010-7
 

AASB 2014-1
 

AASB 2014-3
 

 
AASB 2014-4

 

AASB 2014-5
 

 
AASB 2014-7

 

AASB 2014-9
 

AASB 2014-10
 

1 Jan 2016 
 
 
 

Application of Australian Accounting Standards 
 
This Standard lists the application paragraphs for each other Standard (and 
Interpretation), grouped where they are the same. There is no financial impact. 

1 Jan 2018 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 
2010) [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 120, 121, 127, 128, 131, 132, 136, 
137, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Int 2, 5, 10, 12, 19 & 127] 
 
This Standard makes consequential amendments to other Australian Accounting 
Standards and Interpretations as a result of issuing AASB 9 in December 2010. 
 
The mandatory application date of this Standard has been amended by AASB 2012-6 
and AASB 2014-1 to 1 January 2018. The Department has not yet determined the 
application or the potential impact of the Standard. 

1 Jan 2016 
 
 
 
 
 

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Accounting for Acquisitions of 
Interests in Joint Operations [AASB 1 & 11] 
 
The Department establishes Joint Operations in pursuit of its objectives and does not 
routinely acquire interests in Joint Operations. Therefore, there is no financial impact 
on application of the Standard. 

1 Jan 2016 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Clarification of Acceptable 
Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation [AASB 116 & 138] 
 
The adoption of this Standard has no financial impact for the Department as 
depreciation and amortisation is not determined by reference to revenue generation, 
but by reference to consumption of future economic benefits. 

1 Jan 2018 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 15 
 
This Standard gives effect to the consequential amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards (including Interpretations) arising from the issuance of AASB 15. The 
mandatory application date of this Standard has been amended by AASB 2015-8 to 1 
January 2018. The Department has not yet determined the application or the potential 
impact of the Standard. 

1 Jan 2018 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 
2014) 
 
This Standard gives effect to the consequential amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards (including Interpretations) arising from the issuance of AASB 9 (December 
2014). The Department has not yet determined the application or the potential impact 
of the Standard. 
 

1 Jan 2018 
 
 
 
 

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
 
Part E of this Standard makes amendments to AASB 9 and consequential 
amendments to other Standards. It has not yet been assessed by the Department to 
determine the application or potential impact of the Standard. 

1 Jan 2016 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Equity Method in Separate 
Financial Statements [AASB 1, 127 & 128] 
 
This Standard amends AASB 127, and consequentially amends AASB 1 and AASB 
128, to allow entities to use the equity method of accounting for investments in 
subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates in their separate financial statements. The 
Department has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the 
Standard. 
 

1 Jan 2016 
 
 
 
 
 

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Sale or Contribution of Assets 
between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture [AASB 10 & 128] 
 
This Standard amends AASB 10 and AASB 128 to address an inconsistency between 
the requirements in AASB 10 and those in AASB 128 (August 2011), in dealing with 
the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint 
venture. The Department has not yet determined the application or the potential 
impact of the Standard. 
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  Operative for
 reporting periods

 beginning 
on/after   

AASB 2015-1
 

AASB 2015-2
 

AASB 2015-6
 

AASB 2015-8
 

AASB 2015-10
 

AASB 2016-2
 

AASB 2016-3
 

AASB 2016-4
 

1 Jan 2016 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Annual Improvements to 
Australian Accounting Standards 2012–2014 Cycle [AASB 1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 11, 110, 119, 
121, 133, 134, 137 & 140] 
These amendments arise from the issuance of International Financial Reporting 
Standard Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2012–2014 Cycle in September 2014, and 
editorial corrections. The Department has determined that the application of the 
Standard has no financial impact. 
  

1 Jan 2016 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosure Initiative: Amendments 
to AASB 101 [AASB 7, 101, 134 & 1049] 
 
This Standard amends AASB 101 to provide clarification regarding the disclosure 
requirements in AASB 101. Specifically, the Standard proposes narrow-focus 
amendments to address some of the concerns expressed about existing presentation 
and disclosure requirements and to ensure entities are able to use judgement when 
applying a Standard in determining what information to disclose in their financial 
statements. There is no financial impact.   

1 Jul 2016 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Extending Related Party 
Disclosures to Not-for-Profit Public Sector Entities [AASB 10, 124 & 1049] 
 
The amendments extend the scope of AASB 124 to include application by not-for-
profit public sector entities. Implementation guidance is included to assist application 
of the Standard by not-for-profit public sector entities. There is no financial impact. 

 1 Jan 2017    
  
  
 

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Effective Date of AASB 15 
 
This Standard amends the mandatory effective date (application date) of AASB 15 
Revenue from Contracts with Customers so that AASB 15 is required to be applied for 
annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 instead of 1 January 
2017. The Department has not yet determined the application or the potential impact 
of AASB 15. 
  
 

 1 Jan 2016    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Effective Date of Amendments to 
AASB 10 & 128 
 
This Standard defers the mandatory effective date (application date) of amendments 
to AASB 10 & 128 that were originally made in AASB 2014-10 so that the 
amendments are required to be applied for annual reporting periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2018 instead of 1 January 2016. The Department has not yet 
determined the application or the potential impact of AASB 2014-10. 
 

 1 Jan 2017    
  
  
  

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosure Initiative: Amendments 
to AASB 107 
 
This Standard amends AASB 107 Statement of Cash Flows (August 2015) to require 
disclosures that enable users of financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities 
arising from financing activities, including both changes arising from cash flows and 
non-cash changes. There is no financial impact. 

 1 Jan 2018    
  
  
 

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Clarifications to AASB 15 
 
This Standard clarifies identifying performance obligations, principal versus agent 
considerations, timing of recognising revenue from granting a licence, and, provides 
further transitional provisions to AASB 15. The Department has not yet determined the 
application or the potential impact. 

 1 Jan 2017    
  
  
     

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Recoverable Amount of Non-
Cash-Generating Specialised Assets of Not-for-Profit Entities 
 
This Standard clarifies that the recoverable amount of primarily non-cash-generating 
assets of not-for-profit entities, which are typically specialised in nature and held for 
continuing use of their service capacity, is expected to be materially the same as fair 
value determined under AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement. The Department has not 
yet determined the application or the potential impact. 
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 Note 6. Employee benefits expense
2016 2015
$000 $000

Wages and salaries (a) 9,854 9,511
Superannuation - defined contribution plans (b) 982 1,023

10,836 10,534

 
 

 Note 7. Supplies and services

2016 2015
$000 $000

Communications 275 203
Consultants and contractors 1,937 2,703
Consumables 148 189
Repairs and maintenance 52 40
Travel 31 33
Advertising and promotion 21 17
Motor vehicle leasing 45 49
Office equipment leasing 15 15
Insurance  10 176
Legal services - Services received free of charge 64 63
Other 444 266

3,042 3,754

 Note 8. Depreciation and amortisation expense  
2016 2015
$000 $000

Depreciation
Furniture equipment 44 44
Office equipment 106 161
Total depreciation 150 205

Amortisation
Licenses 63 59
Computer software 1,025 585
Total amortisation 1,088 644

Total depreciation and amortisation 1,238 849

 Note 9. Accommodation expenses
2016 2015
$000 $000

Lease rentals 1,316 1,319
Services received free of charge 9 9

1,325 1,328

(b) Defined contribution plans include West State and Gold State (contributions paid). 

                     

(a) Includes the value of the fringe benefit to the employee plus the fringe benefits tax component, leave entitlements 
including superannuation contribution component. 
 
(b) Defined contribution plans include West State, Gold State, GESB and other eligible funds. 
 
Employment on-costs expenses, such as workers' compensation insurance, are included at note 10 'Other expenses'. 
 
Employment on-costs liability is included at note 20 'Provisions'. 
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 Note 10. Other expenses 
2016 2015
$000 $000

Remediation costs 102 11
Employment on-costs 26 (12)                   
Other employee related expenses 58 125
Audit fee (a)  81 291
  267 415

  

 Note 11. User charges and fees
2016 2015
$000 $000

Recoups for services provided:

Net Appropriation Revenues
Gaming and Wagering Commission of Western Australia 4,744 4,931
Racing Penalties Appeal Tribunal 177 172
Commonwealth Government 80 48
Liquor fees and other charges 6,108 5,929

11,109 11,080

 Note 12. Income from State Government
2016 2015
$000 $000

Appropriation received during the period:
 - Service appropriation  (a) 5,562 5,351 

5,562 5,351

Services received free of charge from other State government agencies
 during the period:
Department of Finance
    - Government accommodation - leasing 9 9
Department of the Attorney General
    - Legal services 64 63

73 72
5,635 5,423

 

 

(a) Service appropriations fund the net cost of services delivered. Appropriation revenue comprises a cash component and a 
receivable (asset). The receivable (holding account) comprises the budgeted depreciation expense for the year and any 
agreed increase in leave liabilities during the year. 
 

(a) Audit fee, see also note 27 'Remuneration of auditor'. 
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 Note 13. Restricted cash and cash equivalents

2016 2015
$000 $000

Current
Accrued salaries suspense account (a) 0 302
Special purpose accounts (refer to note 23) 3 0

3 302

Non-current
Accrued salaries suspense account (a) 0 0

0 0

 Note 14. Receivables
2016 2015
$000 $000

Current
Receivables  10 17
Allowance for impairment of receivables 0 0
Other receivables  16 25
GST receivable 27 112
Prepayments 126 65

Total current 179 219

Credit Risk

 Note 15. Amounts receivable for services (Holding Account)
2016 2015
$000 $000

Current 0 0
Non-current 3,164 2,697

3,164 2,697

Credit Risk

(a) Funds held in the suspense account for the purpose of meeting the 27th pay in 2015-16. 
 

                         The Department does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements as security for receivables. 

                         Represents the non-cash component of service appropriations. it is restricted in that it can only be used for asset 
replacement or payment of leave liability. 
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 Note 16. Plant and equipment
2016 2015
$000 $000

Furniture equipment
     At cost  442 442
     Accumulated depreciation  (203)           (159)                 

 239 283
Office equipment  
     At cost  808 808
     Accumulated depreciation  (767)           (661)                 

 41 147

Sub-total  280 430

Add: Work in progress  0 0
Total  280 430
 

                                                                                                     Furniture Office Work in
                                                                                                  equipment equipment progress Total

                                                                                          $000 $000 $000 $000

2016
 Carrying amount at start of period 283 147 0 430
 Additions 0 0 0 0
 Transfers 0 0 0 0

Disposals 0 0 0 0
 Accumulated depreciation reversal - disposal 0 0 0 0 

 Depreciation (44)             (106)           0 (150)                 
 Carrying amount at end of period 239 41 0 280

                                                                                                     Furniture Office Work in
                                                                                                  equipment equipment progress Total

                                                                                          $000 $000 $000 $000
2015
Carrying amount at start of period 327 308 0 635
Additions 0 0 0 0
Transfers 0 0 0 0
Disposals 0 0 0 0
Accumulated depreciation reversal - disposal 0 0 0 0
Depreciation (44)             (161)           0 (205)                 
Carrying amount at end of period 283 147 0 430

                     

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of plant and equipment at the beginning and end of the reporting period are set 
out in the table below. 
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 Note 17. Intangible assets
2016 2015
$000 $000

Licence
     At cost 574 574
     Accumulated amortisation (127)           (65)                   
     Accumulated impairment losses 0 0

 447 509
Computer software
     At cost 11,443 11,443
     Accumulated amortisation (4,176)        (3,150)              
     Accumulated impairment losses 0 0

 7,267 8,293

Sub-total 7,714 8,802

Add: Work in progress 0 0
Total 7,714 8,802

Reconciliations:

 Computer Work in
Licenses software progress Total

 
$000 $000 $000 $000

2016
Carrying amount at start of period 509 8,293 0 8,802
Additions 0 0 0 0
Transfers 0 0 0 0
Disposals 0 0 0 0
Accumulated amortisation reversal - disposal 0 0 0 0
Amortisation expense (62)             (1,026)        0 (1,088)              
Carrying amount at end of period 447 7,267 0 7,714

Computer Work in
Licenses software progress Total

 
$000 $000 $000 $000

2015
Carrying amount at start of period 22 2,997 4,165 7,184
Additions 0 0 2,262 2,262
Transfers 546 5,881 (6,427)        0
Disposals 0 0 0 0
Accumulated amortisation reversal - disposal 0 0 0 0
Amortisation expense (59)             (585)           0 (644)                 
Carrying amount at end of period 509 8,293 0 8,802

 Note 18. Impairment of assets

 Note 19. Payables
2016 2015
$000 $000

Current 
Trade payables 452 1,279
Other payables 18 21
Accrued expenses  188 202
Accrued salaries 0 268
Total current  658 1,770

 
 

There were no indications of impairment to plant and equipment, or intangible assets at 30 June 2016. 
 
The Department held no goodwill or intangible assets with an indefinite useful life during the reporting period. At the end 
of the reporting period there were no intangible assets not yet available for use.  
 
All surplus assets at 30 June 2016 have been written-off. 

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of intangible assets at the beginning and end of the reporting period are set out 
in the table below. 
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 Note 20. Provisions
2016 2015
$000 $000

Current 
Employee benefits provision   
Annual leave (a)  302 110
Purchased leave  35 11
Long service leave (b) 1,212 1,179

 1,549 1,300
Other provisions
Employment on-costs (c) 150 120
Remediation costs (d) 320 0

470 120
 2,019 1,420

Non-current 
Employee benefits provision   
Long service leave (b) 466 493

466 493
 Other provisions

Employment on-costs (c) 50 54
Remediation costs (d) 0 217

50 271
516 764

2016 2015
$000 $000

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period  288 107
More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period  14 3

302 110

2016 2015
$000 $000

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period  489 397
More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period  1,189 1,275

1,678 1,672

Movements in other provisions

2016 2015
$000 $000

Remediation costs provisions
Carrying amount at start of period 217 206
Additional provisions recognised 103 11
Carrying amount at end of period 320 217

Employment on-cost provision
Carrying amount at start of period 174 186
Additional provisions recognised  26 (12)                   
Carrying amount at end of period  200 174

(b) Long service leave liabilities have been classified as current where there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for 
at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period. Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities is 
expected to occur as follows: 

(c) The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities gives rise to the payment of employment on-costs including 
workers' compensation insurance. The provision is the present value of expected future payments.  
 
The associated expense, apart from the unwinding of the discount (finance cost), is disclosed in note 10 'Other expenses'. 
 
(d) At the termination of the lease, the Department has a legal or constructive obligation to dismantle and restore the property 
at Level 1, Hyatt Centre, East Perth. The total remediation cost is estimated at $320,000.   
 
The associated expense, apart from the unwinding of the discount (finance cost), is disclosed in note 10 'Other expenses'. 

Movements in each class of provisions during the period, other than employee benefits, are set out below. 

(a) Annual leave liabilities have been classified as current as there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 
12 months after the end of the reporting period. Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities is expected 
to occur as follows: 
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 Note 21. Other liabilities
2016 2015
$000 $000

Current
Special purpose accounts (refer to note 23)  3 0
Receipts in advance 417 1,287
Fees in trust  54 53
Total current 474 1,340

 Note 22. Equity

Contributed equity
2016 2015
$000 $000

Balance at start of period 6,480 6,480

Contributions by owners
Capital appropriation 0 0

Total contributions by owners 0 0
Balance at end of period 6,480 6,480

Accumulated surplus/(deficit) 
2016 2015
$000 $000

Balance at start of period 1,184 1,561       y , ,
Result for the period 36                   (377)
Balance at end of period 1,220 1,184

Total Equity at end of period 7,700 7,664

 Note 23. Special purpose accounts

Special Purpose Account (a)

 Indian Ocean Territories Reimbursement Trust Fund

2016 2015
$000 $000

Balance at start of period 0 5
Receipts 83 43
Payments (80)             (48)                   
Balance at end of period 3 0

(a) Established under section 16(1)(d) of FMA.

The Indian Ocean Territories Reimbursement Trust Fund was established in March 1996 and became operational in July 
1996. 
 
The purpose of the account is to hold funds received from the Commonwealth, for services provided by the Department in 
relation to the regulation of liquor operations on Christmas and Cocos Islands. The balance of the trust fund at the end of 
the financial year is held in the Department's operating account. 
 
The figures presented below for the Trust Fund have been prepared on a cash basis. 
 

The Western Australian Government holds the equity interest in the Department on behalf of the community. Equity 
represents the residual interest in the net assets of the Department. 
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 Note 24. Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows
2016 2015
$000 $000

 Reconciliation of cash

Cash and cash equivalents 27 508
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 3 302

30 810

 Reconciliation of net cost of services to net cash flows provided by/(used in) operating activities

2016 2015
$000 $000

Net cost  of services          (5,599)                (5,800)
Non-cash items
Depreciation and amortisation expense 1,238 849
Services received free of charge 73 72

 (Increase)/decrease in assets
Current receivables (a) 55 312

Increase/(decrease) in liabilities
Current payables (a) (1,112) 2,420
Current provisions 599 (33)
Other liabilities             (844) 0

Non-current provisions             (248) 37
 

Net GST receipts/(payments) (b) (4) 99
Change in GST in receivables/payables (c) 88 (93)
Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities  (5,754)        (2,137)              

 

 

 Note 25. Commitments                                                                                                                                                                                            

 Non cancellable operating lease commitments
2016 2015
$000 $000

Within 1 year 683 133
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 28 26
Later than 5 years 0 0

711 159

 

 

Capital expenditure commitments
2016 2015
$000 $000

Within 1 year 236 236
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 473 709
Later than 5 years 0 0

709 945

Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the Statement of Cash Flows is reconciled to the related items in the 
Statement of Financial Position as follows: 

         

                

The commitments below are exclusive of GST. 

Capital expenditure commitments, being contracted capital expenditure additional to the 
amounts reported in the financial statements, are payable as follows:  

Non-cancellable lease commitments include property, office equipment and motor vehicle leases. The property lease is a 
non-cancellable lease with a three year term, with rent payable monthly in advance. Contingent rent provisions within the 
lease agreement require that the minimum lease payments shall be increased by 3.5% per annum. An option exists to 
renew the lease at the expiry of the current lease for an additional term of 6 months. 

                
                

(a) Note that the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) receivable/payable in respect of GST and the receivable/payable in 
respect of the sale/purchase of non-current assets are not included in these items as they do not form part of the 
reconciling items.       
(b) This is the net GST paid/received, i.e. cash transactions. 
(c) This reverses out the GST in receivables and payables. 
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Note 25. Commitments  (contd)

Other expenditure commitments
2016 2015
$000 $000

Within 1 year 228 452
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 0 228
Later than 5 years 0 0

228 680

 Note 26. Remuneration of senior officers
  

2016 2015
Remuneration Band ($)

120,001 - 130,000 0 1
150,001 - 160,000 2 0
160,001 - 170,000 0 4
170,001 - 180,000 2 0
210,001 - 220,000 1 1
330,001 - 340,000 0 1
360,001 - 370,000 1 0

   
$000 $000

Base remuneration and superannuation 1,224 1,307
Annual leave and long service accruals               (12)                     (13)
Other benefits 26 26

  Total remuneration of senior officers 1,238 1,320

 Note 27. Remuneration of auditor
2016 2015
$000 $000

Auditing the accounts, controls, financial statements and key performance indicators 80 78

80 78

The number of senior officers whose total fees, salaries, superannuation, non-monetary benefits and other benefits for the 
financial year fall within the following bands are:    

Total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by the Department in respect of senior officers. 
 

Remuneration paid or payable to the Auditor General (a) in respect of the audit for the current financial year is as follows: 

(a) The fee for the 2014-15 audit ($80,800) was due and payable in the 2015-16 financial year. 
 
    The fee for the 2015-16 audit ($80,000) will be due and payable in the 2016-17 financial year. 

Other expenditure commitments, namely administrative expenditure, contracted for at 
the end of the reporting period but not recognised as liabilities, are payable as follows:  
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Note 28. Explanatory statement

Statement of Comprehensive Income
(Controlled Operations)

Variance Variance
 between between actual

Variance Estimate Actual Actual estimate and results for 2016
Note 2016 2016 2015 actual and 2015

  $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

COST OF SERVICES
Expenses 
Employee benefits expense  10,524 10,836 10,534 312 302
Supplies and services 1, A 2,249 3,042 3,754 793 (712)                     
Depreciation and amortisation expense 2, B 467 1,238 849 771 389
Accommodation expenses  1,314 1,325 1,328 11 (3)                         
Other expenses   560 267 415 (293)                     (148)                     
Total cost of services 15,114 16,708 16,880 1,594 (172)                     

 
Income  
Revenue 
User charges and fees 3 9,682 11,109 11,080 1,427 29
Total revenue 9,682 11,109 11,080 1,427 29

 
Total income other than income  
from State Government 9,682 11,109 11,080 1,427 29

 
NET COST OF SERVICES 5,432 5,599 5,800 167 (201)                     

Income from State Government

Service appropriation  5,562 5,562 5,351 0 211
Services received free of charge  164 73 72 (91)                       1
Total income from State Government  5,726 5,635 5,423 (91)                       212

SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD  294 36 (377)                     (258)                     413

Total other comprehensive income 0 0 0 0 0
 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD 294 36 (377)                     (258)                     413

          

All variances between estimates (original budget) and actual results for 2016, and between the actual results for 2016 and 2015 are shown below.  Narratives are 
provided for selected major variances, which are generally greater than: 
 
* 5% and $302,000 for the Statements of Comprehensive Income and Cash Flows; and 
* 5% and $226,000 for the Statement of Financial Position. 
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Note 28. Explanatory statement (contd)
Statement of Financial Position
(Controlled Operations)

Variance Variance
 between between actual

Variance Estimate Actual Actual estimate and results for 2016
Note 2016 2016 2015 actual and 2015

 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 4, C 344 27 508 (317)                 (481)                       
Restricted cash and cash equivalents D 5 3 302 (2)                    (299)                       
Receivables 5 551 179 219 (372)                 (40)                        
Amounts receivable for services (Holding Account)  0 0 0 0 0

Total Current Assets 900 209 1,029 (691)                 (820)                       
 

Non-Current Assets
Restricted cash and cash equivalents  0 0 0 0 0
Amounts receivable for services (Holding Account) E 3,164 3,164 2,697 0 467
Plant and equipment  460 280 430 (180)                 (150)                       
Intangible assets 6, F 6,817 7,714 8,802 897 (1,088)                    
Total Non-Current Assets  10,441 11,158 11,929 717 (771)                       

TOTAL ASSETS 11,341 11,367 12,958 26 (1,591)                    

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Payables 7, G 44 658 1,770 614 (1,112)                    
Provisions 8, H 1,453 2,019 1,420 566 599
Other current liabilities I 365 474 1,340 109 (866)                       
Total Current Liabilities  1,862 3,151 4,530 1,289 (1,379)                    

Non-Current Liabilities
Provisions J 727 516 764 (211)                 (248)                       

Total Non-Current Liabilities 727 516 764 (211)                 (248)                       

TOTAL LIABILITIES 2,589 3,667 5,294 1,078 (1,627)                    
 

NET ASSETS  8,752 7,700 7,664 (1,052)              36

EQUITY
Contributed equity  6,480 6,480 6,480 0 0
Accumulated surplus/(deficit) 2,272 1,220 1,184 (1,052)              36

TOTAL EQUITY  8,752 7,700 7,664 (1,052)              36
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Note 28. Explanatory statement (contd)
Statement of Cash Flows
(Controlled operations)

Variance Variance
 between between actual

Variance Estimate Actual Actual estimate and results for 2016
Note 2016 2016 2015 actual and 2015

 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Service appropriation  5,095 5,095 4,884 0 211
Holding account drawdowns  0 0 250 0 (250)                   
Net cash provided by State Government 5,095 5,095 5,134 0 (39)                     

Utilised as follows:  

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments  
Employee benefits K (10,789)            (10,956)           (10,462)           (167)                  (494)                   
Supplies and services 9 (2,421)              (3,466)             (3,530)             (1,045)               64
Accommodation L (1,314)              (1,427)             (1,099)             (113)                  (328)                   
GST payments on purchases 10 (155)                 (697)                (702)                (542)                  5
GST payments to taxation authority  (25)                   (47)                  (77)                  (22)                    30
Other payments  (293)                 (168)                (41)                  125 (127)                   

Receipts  
User charges and fees 11, M 9,675 10,235 12,868 560 (2,633)                
Other revenues  7 25 27 18 (2)                       
GST receipts on sales  25 47 77 22 (30)                     
GST receipts from taxation authority 12 155 700 802 545 (102)                   
Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities  (5,135)              (5,754)             (2,137)             (619)                  (3,617)                

 
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Payments     
Purchase of non-current assets N 0 (190)                (2,469)             (190)                  2,279
Payments from fees in trust O 0 (163)                (497)                (163)                  334

 
Receipts
Proceeds from fees in trust  0 232 466 232 (234)                   
Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities  0 (121)                (2,500)             (121)                  2,379

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (40)                   (780)                497 (740)                  (1,277)                
 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period  389 810 313 421 497
 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE PERIOD 349 30 810 (319)                  (780)                   
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Note 28. Explanatory statement (contd)

Major Estimate and Actual (2016) Variance Narratives for Controlled Operations

1)
 

2)
 

3)
 

4)

5)
 

6)
 

7)
 

8)
 

9)
 

10)
 

11)
 

12)
 

Supplies and services are overspent by $793,000 (35%), due mainly to an increase in the engagement of 
professional services (by $675,000) for the new business system. 
 

Depreciation and amortisation expense exceed the estimates by $771,000 (165%), due mainly to the full year 
impact of the amortisation expenses of the new business systems. 

User charges and fees exceed the estimates by $1.427 million (15%), due mainly to the increases in the liquor 
fee revenue (by $1.054 million). In the financial year it was anticipated that one off/occasional liquor licenses 
applications would reduce due to the impact of exemptions to the requirements to obtain liquor licenses. 
Furthermore, the number of approved manager applications did not decline as anticipated. Consequently 
more than anticipated applications were received resulting in a higher than expected liquor fee revenue. 
 

Cash and cash equivalents are lower than the estimates by $317,000 (92%) due to the significant net cash 
used in operating activities. 

Receivables are lower than the estimates by $372,000 (68%) due to the full settlement of charges from the 
statutory authority for 2015-16.  

Intangible assets exceed the estimates by $897,000 (13%) due to unexpected additional capital acquisitions in 
late 2014-2015. 

Current payables exceed the estimates by $614,000 (1396%) due mainly to the receipt of late incoming tax 
invoices from suppliers at year-end.  

Current provisions exceed the estimates by $566,000 (39%), due partly to an increase in the remediation 
provision (by $320,000), and partly to an increase in the annual leave (by $62,000), and current portion of 
long service leave (by $148,000). 

Payments for supplies and services exceed the estimates by $1.045 million (43%), due to the on-going 
expenses associated with the new business system, and the provision of services to the Cluster agencies.  

GST payments on purchases exceed the estimates by $542,000 (349%) due mainly to the explanation in note 
(9). 

Receipts of user charges and fees exceed the estimates by $560,000 (6%), due mainly to the increases in the 
liquor fee revenue (by $1.054 million). In the financial year it was anticipated that one off/occasional liquor 
licenses applications would reduce due to the impact of exemptions to the requirements to obtain liquor 
licenses. Furthermore, the number of approved manager applications did not decline as anticipated. 
Consequently more than anticipated applications were received resulting in a higher than expected liquor fee 
revenue. 

GST receipts from taxation authority exceed the estimates by $545,000 (352%), due mainly to the explanation 
in note (9) and (10). 
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Note 28. Explanatory statement (contd)

Major Actual (2016) and Comparative (2015) Variance Narratives for Controlled Operations

A)
 

B)
 

C)
 

D)
 

E)
 

F)
 

G)
 

H)

 

I)

 

J)
 

K)
 

L)
 

M)
 

N)
 

O)
 

Cash and cash equivalents are higher in 2014-2015 by $481,000 (95%) due to service payment received in 
advance of recoupment from the statutory authority. 

Restricted cash and cash equivalents are lower in 2016 by $299,000 (99%) due to the payment of the 27th pay. 
 

The Amounts receivable for services (Holding Account) are higher than 2015 by $467,000 (17%) due to a 
change in accrual appropriation process from Treasury. 

Intangible assets are lower than 2015 by $1.088 million (12%) due to the full year impact of the amortisation 
expenses.  

Current payables are higher in 2014-2015 by $1.112 million (63%), due mainly to the receipt of late incoming 
tax invoices from suppliers at year-end, and not paid yet until 2015-16 financial year. 

Current provisions are higher than 2015 by $599,000 (42%), due mainly to the explanation in note (8). 

Other current liabilities are higher in 2015 by $866,000 (65%), due mainly to the explanation in note (C). 
 

Non-Current provisions are lower than 2015 by $248,000 (33%), due to the reclassification of the remediation 
provision from non-current to current provisions. 

Employee benefits payments are higher than 2015 by $494,000 (5%) due to the payments of redundancy and 
27th pay in 2015-16 financial year. 

Payments for accommodation are higher than 2015 by $328,000 (30%) due to the payments of monthly rental 
for May and June 2015 in 2015-16 financial year.  

Receipts of user charges and fees are higher in 2015 by $2.633 million (20%), due mainly to the explanation in 
Note (C), and (I). 

Supplies and services are higher in 2015 by $712,000 (19%), due mainly to the changes in the specification 
requirements, including a new Receipting System during the implementation of the new business systems. 
 

Depreciation and amortisation expense are higher than 2015 by $389,000 (46%), due mainly to the full year 
impact of the amortisation expenses of the new business systems.  

Payments for purchase of non-current assets are higher in 2015 by $2.279 million (92%), due mainly to the 
implementation of the new business system, and decommissioning of shared services.  

Payments from fees in trust are lower than 2015 by $334,000 (67%), due mainly to a decrease in liquor 
infringement receipts in 2016. 
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 Note 29. Financial instruments 
  (a) Financial risk management objectives and policies

  (b) Categories of financial instruments

2016 2015
$000 $000

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 27 508
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 3 302
Receivables (a) 3,316 2,804

 
Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 1,132  3,110

(a) The amount of receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).

                     

                  

                  

Market risk 
 
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates will affect the 
Department's income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The Department does not trade in foreign currency 
and is not materially exposed to other price risks.  
 
The Department is not exposed to interest rate risk because all cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash are non-
interest bearing, and have no borrowings. 

The carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial assets and financial liabilities at the end of the 
reporting period are: 

                  

                  

Liquidity risk 
 
Liquidity risk arises when the Department is unable to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. 
 
The Department is exposed to liquidity risk through its trading in the normal course of business.  
  
The Department has appropriate procedures to manage cash flows including drawdown of appropriations by monitoring 
forecast cash flows to ensure that sufficient funds are available to meet its commitments. 

Financial instruments held by the Department are cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and cash equivalents, 
receivables and payables. The Department has limited exposure to financial risks. The Department's overall risk 
management program focuses on managing the risks identified below. 
 
Credit risk 
 
Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the Department's receivables defaulting on their contractual obligations 
resulting in financial loss to the Department. 
  
The maximum exposure  to credit risk at the end of the reporting period in relation to each class of recognised financial 
assets is the gross carrying amount of those assets inclusive of any allowance for impairment as shown in the table at Note 
29(c) 'Financial instruments disclosures' and Note 14 'Receivables'. 
 
Credit risk associated with the Department's financial assets is minimal because the main receivable is the amounts 
receivable for services (holding account). For receivables other than government, the Department trades only with 
recognised, creditworthy third parties. The Department has policies in place to ensure that sales of products and services are 
made to customers with an appropriate credit history. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis 
with the result that the Department's exposure to bad debts is minimal. At the end of the reporting period there were no 
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Note 29.(c) Financial instrument disclosures (contd)

 
 Ageing analysis of financial assets

 
Past due but not impaired

Not past due Impaired
Carrying and not   3 months to  More than 5 financial
Amount impaired Up to 1 month 1-3 months 1 year 1-5 years years assets

 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
 

2016

Cash and cash equivalents 27 27 0 0 0 0 0 0
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 3 3 0 0 0 0 0 0
Receivables (a) 152 142 0 0 0 10 0 0
Amounts receivable for services 3,164 3,164 0 0 0 0 0 0
 3,346 3,336 0 0 0 10 0 0

2015

Cash and cash equivalents 508 508 0 0 0 0 0 0
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 302 302 0 0 0 0 0 0
Receivables (a) 107 94 0 13 0 0 0 0
Amounts receivable for services 2,697 2,697 0 0 0 0 0 0
 3,614 3,601 0 13 0 0 0 0

(a) The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).

 

Credit risk  
 
The following table details the Department's maximum exposure to credit risk and the ageing analysis of financial assets. The Department's maximum exposure to credit risk at 
the end of the reporting period is the carrying amount of financial assets as shown below. The table discloses the ageing of financial assets that are past due but not impaired and 
impaired financial assets. The table is based on information provided to senior management of the Department. 
 
The Department does not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancements relating to the financial assets it holds. 
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Note 29. (c) Financial instrument disclosures (contd)
Liquidity risk and interest rate exposure

Interest rate exposure and maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities

Interest rate exposure Maturity dates

 Weighted Fixed Variable Non-  
Average Carrying interest interest interest Nominal Up to 1  3 months to  More than 5
Effective Amount rate rate bearing Amount month 1-3 months 1 year 1-5 years years
Interest    

Rate
 % $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
2016
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 27 0 0 27 27 27 0 0 0 0
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 3 0 0 3 3 0 0 3 0 0
Receivables (a)  152 0 0 152 152 142 0 0 10 0
Amounts receivable for services  3,164 0 0 3,164 3,164 0 0 0 500 2,664
 3,346 0 0 3,346 3,346 169 0 3 510 2,664

Financial Liabilities
Payables 658 0 0 658 658 658 0 0 0 0
Other financial liabilities  474 0 0 474 474 474 0 0 0 0
 1,132 0 0 1,132 1,132 1,132 0 0 0 0 
(a) The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).

The following table details the  Department's interest rate exposure and the contractual maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities. The maturity analysis section includes interest and principal 
cash flows. The interest rate exposure section analyses only the carrying amounts of each item. 
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Note 29. (c) Financial instrument disclosures (contd)
Liquidity risk and interest rate exposure

Interest rate exposure and maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities

Interest rate exposure Maturity dates

 Weighted Fixed Variable Non-  
Average Carrying interest interest interest Nominal Up to 1  3 months to  More than 5
Effective Amount rate rate bearing Amount month 1-3 months 1 year 1-5 years years
Interest    

Rate
 % $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
2015
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 508 0 0 508 508 508 0 0 0 0
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 302 0 0 302 302 0 0 302 0 0
Receivables (a)  107 0 0 107 107 94 13 0 0 0
Amounts receivable for services  2,697 0 0 2,697 2,697 0 0 0 450 2,247
 3,614 0 0 3,614 3,614 602 13 302 450 2,247

Financial Liabilities
Payables  1,770 0 0 1,770 1,770 1,770 0 0 0 0
Other financial liabilities  1,340 0 0 1,340 1,340 1,340 0 0 0 0
 3,110 0 0 3,110 3,110 3,110 0 0 0 0

(a) The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).

Interest rate sensitivity analysis 
 
The Department is not exposed to interest rate risk because all cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash are non-interest bearing, and have no borrowings. 

Fair values 
 
All financial assets and liabilities recognised in the Statement of Financial Position, whether they are carried at cost or fair value, are recognised at amounts that represent a reasonable approximation of fair 
value unless otherwise stated in the applicable notes. 
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 Note 30. Services provided free of charge

2016 2015
$000 $000

Department of Local Government and Communities 178 206
Department of the State Heritage Office 42 49
Equal Opportunity Commission 38 44

258 299

 Note 31. Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

 Note 32. Events occurring after the end of the reporting period

 
 Note 33. Supplementary financial information

 (a) Write-offs

 (b) Losses through theft, defaults and other causes

There was no record of losses through theft, defaults and other causes in 2016.

The Department did not write off any public property, revenues and debts due to the State, during the financial year. 
 

As of 25 July 2016, the Cabinet approved funding related to the re-location of the Department office premise to the Gordon 
Stephenson House. The re-location is scheduled to be completed by the end of December 2016. 
 

During the period the following services were provided to other agencies free of charge for 
functions outside the normal operations of the Department: 

The Department is not aware of any contingent liabilities and assets at the end of the reporting period. 
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Note 34. Disclosure of administered income and expenses

2016 2015
$000 $000

INCOME FROM ADMINISTERED ITEMS
Income   
Taxation   
 Casino Tax 64,863 110,284

Other 
 Appropriation 52,628 101,670
 
Total administered income 117,491 211,954

Expenses
Grants to Charitable And Other Public Bodies   
 Grants to Individuals Problem Gambling 493 1,174

Statutory Authorities
 Grants to Racing and Wagering Western Australia 6,251 8,400

Subsidies And Concessions
Subsidies to liquor merchants and producers 725 2,255
Subsidies to gambling and betting agencies and bookmakers 45,159 91,419

Other
Receipts paid into Consolidated Fund Settlement 62,764 113,108

 
Total administered expenses 115,392 216,356

The 'Compliance audits and inspections' of the Department was responsible for the administration of the Administered 
Transactions. The requirement to disclose the Administered Income and Expenses by Service is therefore not applicable. 
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Note 34.  Explanatory statement for Administered Items 

 
 

 Variance Variance
 between between actual

Variance Estimate Actual Actual estimate and results for 2016
Note 2016 2016 2015 actual and 2015

 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
INCOME FROM ADMINISTERED ITEMS
Income  

Taxation      

Casino Tax 1, A 81,400 64,863 110,284 (16,537) (45,421)

Other 
Appropriation 2, B 71,602 52,628 101,670 (18,974) (49,042)

Total administered income 153,002 117,491 211,954 (35,511) (94,463)

 

Expenses
Grants to Charitable And Other Public Bodies       

Grants to Individuals Problem Gambling  500 493 1,174 (7) (681)

Statutory Authorities
Grants to Racing and Wagering Western Australia  8,787 6,251 8,400 (2,536) (2,149)

Subsidies And Concessions
Subsidies to liquor merchants and producers  750 725 2,255 (25)              (1,530)
Subsidies to gambling and betting agencies and bookmakers 3, C 61,565 45,159 91,419 (16,406)       (46,260)

Other
 Receipts paid into Consolidated Fund Settlement 4, D 81,400 62,764 113,108 (18,636)       (50,344)
 
Total administered expenses 153,002 115,392 216,356 (37,610) (100,964)

All variances between estimates (original budget) and actual results for 2016, and between the actual results for 2016 and 2015 are shown below. Narratives are 
provided for key major variances, which are generally greater than 5% and $3.06 million. 
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Note 34. Explanatory statement for Administered Items (contd)

Major Estimate and Actual (2016) Variance Narratives for Administered Items

1)

 

2)

 

 
3)

 
4)

Major Actual (2016) and Comparative (2015) Variance Narratives for Administered Items

A)
 

B)
 

C)
 

D)

The variance of $18.97 million (26%) in the Administered Appropriation is due mainly to the changes to the 
casino tax GST reimbursement arrangement with Crown Perth Casino. 
 

The variance of $16.41 million (27%) in the ‘Subsidies to gambling and betting agencies and bookmakers’ is due 
mainly to the changes to the casino tax GST reimbursement arrangement with Crown Perth Casino. 

The variance of $46.26 million (51%) in the 'Subsidies to gambling and betting agencies and bookmakers’ is 
due mainly to the changes to the casino tax GST reimbursement arrangement with Crown Perth Casino. 

Receipts paid into Consolidated Fund Settlement’ is lower in 2016 by $50.34 million (45%) due to explanation 
in note (A). 

2016 Casino Taxable Revenue is lower than budgeted by $16.54 million (20%), as the initial budget included 
GST portion from Crown Perth Casino, which was no longer applicable. 

2016 Casino Taxable Revenue is lower than the 2015 revenue by $45.42 million (41%), due to full year impact 
of the replacement of the payment of GST reimbursements to Crown Perth Casino with lower casino tax rates 
from December 2014 for domestic gaming and from March 15 for International Commission Business. 

The variance of $49.04 million (48%) in the Administered Appropriation is due mainly to the changes to the 
casino tax GST reimbursement arrangement with Crown Perth Casino. 

'Receipts paid into Consolidated Fund Settlement’ is lower in 2016 by $18.64 million (23%) due to the Crown 
Perth Casino paying casino tax net of GST on International Commission Business. 
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Note 35.  Administered assets and liabilities

2016 2015

$000 $000

Assets

Current

Cash and cash equivalents 952 762

Receivables 9,614 7,706

TOTAL ADMINISTERED ASSETS 10,566 8,468

Liabilities

Current

Payables 932 932

TOTAL ADMINISTERED LIABILITIES 932 932

Page 88

Department of Racing, Gaming and Liquor 
Annual Report 2015-2016



 

 
 

 

Key Performance Indicators 
 

Key performance indicators (KPIs) are required by the Financial Management Act 2006 and 
are provided to assist interested parties such as Government, Parliament and community 
groups in assessing an agency’s performance in meeting its desired outcomes.  KPIs 
measure the effectiveness and efficiency of an agency. 

CERTIFICATION OF KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 

I hereby certify that the key performance indicators are based on proper records, are relevant 
and appropriate for assisting users to assess the performance of the Department of Racing, 
Gaming and Liquor, and fairly represent the performance of the Department of Racing, 
Gaming and Liquor for the financial year ended 30 June 2016. 

 
Barry A Sargeant 
DIRECTOR GENERAL 

13 September 2016 
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Detailed Information in Support of Key Performance Indicators 

Desired outcome: To regulate, monitor and enforce responsible and lawful gambling and 
liquor services. 

 
The Department is engaged in a range of activities and provides a number of core services to 
the public of Western Australia to ensure that government objectives and desired outcomes 
are achieved.  In particular, the Department provides: 
 
 Licensing, inspectorial and audit services for the liquor and gambling industries; 

 Expertise and experience in structuring legislation and policy relevant to the liquor and 
gambling industries; and 

 Information and support to stakeholders, as well as programs designed to raise 
awareness of relevant legislation and policies. 

 

Key Effectiveness 
Indicator 

2012-13 
Actual 

2013-14 
Actual 

2014-15 
Actual 

2015-16 
Target 

2015-16 
Actual 

Licensees / service 
providers that comply with 
audit requirements and 
statutory criteria1 

94% 96% 97% 94% 98% 

 
Conducting compliance audits and inspections contributes to the promotion, monitoring and 
enforcement of responsible and lawful gambling and liquor services. Effectiveness can be 
measured by the percentage of licensees and service providers that complied with audit 
requirements and statutory criteria. Areas of non-compliance typically include: 
 
 Conducting activities without a valid permit or licence, for example: 
 

- conducting gaming (e.g. bingo) when permit has expired;  

- liquor licence holders failing to maintain incident registers; 

- overcrowding at licensed premises; and 

- not having an approved manager on the premises. 
 
 Breaching conditions of permits, for example: 
 

- permit holders failing to submit financial returns; 

- standard lotteries failing to maintain records; and 

- continuing lotteries failing to conduct monthly reconciliations. 

                                                 
1
 The Key Effectiveness Indicator is calculated by determining the number of licensees / service providers that complied with 

audit requirements and statutory criteria as a percentage of the total number of audits / inspections conducted in the year 
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In 2016, the number of licensees who were found to have complied with audit requirements 

and statutory criteria was higher than targeted but was comparable to the previous year 

actual result. 

Service 1: Licensing – Evaluation and determination of applications 

Key Efficiency Indicator 
2012-13 
Actual 

2013-14 
Actual 

2014-15 
Actual 

2015-16 
Target 

2015-16 
Actual 

Average cost of determining 
applications2 

$477 $522 $607 $480 $554 

 
The average cost of determining applications can change for each reporting year as a result 
of increases or reductions in the number of licences determined, combined with variances in 
the allocated cost of providing the licensing service, where the cost of providing the service 
is a fixed cost. 
 
This means the more applications that are determined in a given year the less it costs on 
average to determine applications. Conversely, if fewer applications are determined in a 
given year, then it costs more on average to determine applications. In addition, any 
variations to the allocated cost will also impact upon the average cost of providing the 
service. 
 

Licence Type 2014-15 Actual 2015-16 Actual Difference 

Liquor 10,493 11,661 1,168 

Gaming 2,335 2,693 358 

Racing 39 39 0 

Casino 1,034 693 (341) 

Total 13,901 15,086 1,185 

 
The actual average cost to determine each application is $74 more than the target for this 
year. This is due to an increase of 1,185 in the number of applications determined when 
compared to the previous year.  
 
The actual costs incurred were higher than budgeted costs by $797,000. The net result of 
the increased number of applications determined and the increase in fixed costs resulted in 
an actual average cost of determining applications of $554. 
 
In 2016, the Department determined 341 less casino employee licence applications but 
liquor applications determined increased by 1168. This increase and an increase in gaming 
licences accounted for the overall increase in the number of applications determined for the 
year. 

                                                 
2
 The efficiency indicator for this activity is derived by dividing the allocated cost of service for the activity by the number of 

licences and permits determined. 
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Service 2: Compliance audits and inspections 

Key Efficiency 
Indicator 

2012-13 
Actual 

2012-13 
Actual 

2014-15 
Actual 

2015-16 
Target 

2015-16 
Actual 

Average cost of 
conducting inspections3 

$862 $1,124 $1,035 $979 $995 

 
The cost of inspections can change for each reporting year as a result of increases or 
reductions in the number of audits and inspections carried out, combined with the allocated 
cost of providing the compliance service, where the cost of providing the service is a fixed 
cost.  
 
This means the more investigations, audits and inspections conducted in a given year, the 
less it costs on average to conduct inspections. Conversely, if fewer investigations, audits 
and inspections are conducted in a given year, then it costs more on average to conduct an 
inspection/investigation.  
 
Whilst 677 more audits and inspections were conducted in the financial year the average 
cost of conducting inspections is marginally higher than the target for this year due to an 
increase of $797,000 in actual costs compared to budgeted costs.  
 
In 2015-16 the estimated target was 7,719 investigations, audits, inspections and 
assessments conducted; and in 2015-16 there were 8,396 actual investigations, audits, 
inspections and assessments conducted. This means the difference is 677. A breakdown of 
the figure is provided in the table below: 
 

Audits/Inspections/Investigations/Assessments 
2015-16 
Target 

2015-16 
Actual 

Difference 

Racing  485 546 61 

Lotterywest  1,077 1,073 (4) 

Gaming 582 287 (295) 

Casino 2,034 2,335 301 

Liquor 3,541 4,155 614 

Total 7,719 8,396 677 

 
 
  

                                                 
3
 The efficiency indicator for this activity is derived by dividing the allocated cost of service for the activity by the number of 

inspections and audits conducted. 

Page 92

Department of Racing, Gaming and Liquor 
Annual Report 2015-2016



Page 93

Department of Racing, Gaming and Liquor
Annual Report 2015-2016



Page 94

Department of Racing, Gaming and Liquor 
Annual Report 2015-2016



Page 95

Department of Racing, Gaming and Liquor 
Annual Report 2015-2016



 

 
 

Ministerial Directives 

There were no Ministerial Directives during the reporting period. 

Other Financial Disclosures 

Pricing Policies of Services Provided 
 
When analysing its fees and charges, the Department considers the Department of 
Treasury’s recommendation that agencies should achieve full cost recovery where possible.  
In addition, the Department also considers the Joint Standing Committee on Delegated 
Legislation’s recommendations that fees and charges do not exceed cost recovery and/or do 
not cross subsidise. 
 
In setting fees, the Department recognises that not-for-profit organisations and charitable 
bodies form a large part of the Department’s customer base.  Fees for services levied under 
the respective Regulations should not pose a barrier to entry for those organisations 
attempting to raise funds through lawful liquor and gambling activities. 
 
The Department is cognisant of the fact that increasing fees to meet cost recovery could 
impose barriers to entry, which the Department is reluctant to do. 
 
Consistent with the Department of Treasury’s instructions, increases that approximate or 
approach CPI applied over previous years are to be considered routinely by the Minister. 
 
The Department’s fees and charges were increased on 1 January 2016 and can be viewed 
on the Department’s website – fees and charges are reviewed annually. 
 

Capital Works 
 
For the financial year 2015-16, there was no departmental expenditure on capital works. 
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Employment and Industrial Relations 
 

The Department’s Staff Profile 

 2014-15 2015-16 

Full-time permanent  97 92 

Full-time and part-time contract 2.8 2 

Part-time measured on an FTE basis 8.36 10.04 

On secondment 0 2 

Total FTE  108.16 104.04 

 
The Department is committed to training and developing its employees to build a highly 
skilled, professional and ethical workforce with the ability to adapt to changing business, 
technology and environmental needs. 
 
The Department’s training and development program consists of the following components: 
 
 Fire warden training; 

 Senior first aid; 

 Occupational health and safety; 

 Leadership development; 

 Public sector induction; 

 Mentoring; 

 Corruption and misconduct; 

 Job application and interview skills; 

 Recruitment and selection; 

 IT systems and desktop applications; 

 Accountable and ethical decision-making; 

 Grievance officer training; and 

 Traineeships. 

Internal and external training options have been utilised to provide the best possible training 
and development.  This includes supporting people with nationally recognised qualification 
either through fully funded or study assistance options.  
 
In 2015-16, 71 courses were attended by 37 employees.  Thirty two of these courses were 
run by the Public Sector Commission including 15 Management Essentials courses at no 
cost to the agency. 
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Information sessions and training packages for the new online process for performance 
development were developed and delivered to all staff.  Managers also attended a separate 
session to discuss their responsibilities and some also had one-on-one coaching in 
performance development meetings. 
 
No managers or supervisors were trained in OSH and injury management responsibilities 
during the financial year, while two safety and health representatives were trained in  
2015-16. 
 

Workers’ Compensation 
 
During the reporting period, no workers’ compensation claims were lodged. 
 

Governance Disclosures 

Contracts with Senior Officers 
 
At the time of reporting, other than normal contracts of employment of service, no senior 
officers, or firms of which senior officers are members, or entities in which senior officers 
have substantial interests, had any interests in existing or proposed contracts with the 
Department and senior officers. 
 

Unauthorised Use of Credit Cards 
 

There have been no identified instances of unauthorised use of corporate credit cards. 
 
Other Legal Requirements 

Advertising 
 
In accordance with section 175ZE of the Electoral Act 1907, the Department must report any 
expenditure incurred for advertising, market research, polling, direct mail and media 
advertising. 
 

Total advertising expenditure for 2015-16 

Government Agencies $13,182 

Direct mail organisations $1,800 

Media advertising organisations $429 

Total $15,411 

NB: The above table does not include advertising expenditure for the Liquor Commission – that figure 

is reported in the Liquor Commission Annual Report. 
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Disability Access and Inclusion Plan Outcomes 
 
The Department’s updated Disability Access and Inclusion Plan 2014-19 is available on the 
Department’s website.  The plan details the Department’s disability services priorities to meet 
the needs of customers (and their carers and families) with physical, intellectual, sensory and 
cognitive disabilities. 
 
The Department recognises the importance of making its services, building and information 
accessible for people with disabilities. 
 

Compliance with Public Sector Standards and Ethical Codes 
 
The Department encourages a culture of openness, honesty and responsibility which is set 
out in the Customer Service Charter and Code of Conduct.  This includes ensuring 
employees are provided with adequate training and materials to ensure they are fully aware 
of their ethical responsibilities and can deliver our services with integrity. 
 
The Department is committed to achieving high standards in ensuring compliance with the 
Public Sector Standards and Code of Ethics, as well as the Department’s Code of Conduct.  
The Department is also committed to continually seeking opportunities to improve current 
practices through internal auditing, reviewing of policies and procedures, and through 
performance management and feedback. 
 
The following is an overview of the Department’s activities with respect to compliance with 
public sector standards and ethical codes: 
 
Recordkeeping Plans 
 
The Department is committed to continuously improving recordkeeping practices consistent 
with the State Records Act 2000, and it aims for best practice recordkeeping practices. 
 

 

Initiatives for the Year 

As part of the Department’s wellness program for employees, the following initiatives 
occurred without cost to the Department. 

Wills and Enduring Power of Attorney 

This year, the Department organised the Citizens Advice Bureau (CAB) to present an 
information session and to advise employees on the preparation of wills and enduring power 
of attorney documents.  At their own expense, a number of employees engaged with the CAB 
to prepare wills. 

Blood Donor Drive 

The Department organises and coordinates employees to donate blood at the Red Cross at 
regular intervals. 
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Corporate Health Memberships 

The Department has been able to increase the corporate health membership discounts with 
the introduction of another major health insurer giving employees the choice of three 
providers. 

Corporate Massage 

The Department organised for a professional masseuse to attend the offices once a month to 
provide massages to employees at a corporate rate charged to the employee.  

Performance Recognition Awards 2015 

Each year, the Department recognises both individual staff and teams for outstanding work 
through its awards recognition program.  The awards identify and recognise behaviour in line 
with the Departments’ values.  The following awards were recognised during this reporting 
period. 

Excellence and Innovation Award 

Awarded to an employee who streamlines existing (or introduces new) work processes, 
practices or technologies that result in an effective, efficient improvement to business 
activities. 

Customer Service Award 

Awarded to an employee who embodies professionalism and delivers high quality service to 
internal and/or external customers. 

Teamwork Award 

Awarded to an individual or team that demonstrates effective collaboration, honours their 
commitments, shows respect to their colleagues and takes ownership of team outcomes and 
productivity. 

Leadership  

Awarded to an employee who best exemplifies the qualities of a good leader.  

Professional Development Award 

Awarded to an employee who has shown a commitment to (and achievement of) professional 
growth, including a willingness to learn and apply new skills in the workplace. 
 
 

Government Policy Requirements 

 

Substantive Equality 
 
The Department of Racing, Gaming and Liquor is committed to the elimination of 
discrimination from all policies and practices, in accordance with the Policy Framework for 
Substantive Equality.  
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Occupational Safety, Health and Injury Management 
 
The Department believes that workplace accidents and injuries are preventable and that 
safety and health of employees is paramount.  Subsequently, the Department’s Occupational 
Health and Safety Policy commits the Department to the provision of a safe and healthy 
working environment for all employees through the provision of a comprehensive safety and 
health program.  In meeting its responsibilities, the Department undertakes to provide and 
maintain a working environment that is safe and without risks to health. 
 
In particular, the Department strives to: 
 
 Provide and maintain safe plant, equipment and systems of work; 

 Make and monitor arrangements for the safe use, handling, storage, and transport of 
plant and substances; 

 Maintain the workplace in a safe and healthy condition; 

 Provide health surveillance for designated staff; 

 Provide adequate resources to implement the policy and programs introduced for the 
safety and health of all employees; and 

 Provide information, training and supervision for employees so that all work related 
activities may be conducted in a safe and healthy manner. 

Consulting Employees on OHS and Injury Management Issues 
 
The Director Corporate Governance and the Occupational Health and Safety Committee are 
responsible for coordinating consultations on OHS issues.  In the past 12 months, this has 
included consultations on a range of issues. 
 
The Department’s Occupational Health and Safety Program and Policy requires that 
employees at all levels understand and accept specific responsibilities associated with their 
positions.  This includes: 
 
 Induction and training; 

 Safe work procedures and guidelines on safe behaviour; 

 Provision for workplace inspections; 

 Display of safety information; 

 Publishing of emergency procedures; 

 First aid and emergency assistance; 

 Incident reporting and investigation; and 

 An employee assistance program. 
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Assessment of OHS Management Systems 
 
The Department is committed to ensuring its OHS management systems are fit for purpose. 
 

Lost Time Injury Severity Rate 
 

Indicator 2015-16 

Number of fatalities  0 

Lost time injury/disease incidence rate  0 

Lost time injury severity rate  0 

Percentage of injured workers returned to work within: 
i) 13 weeks 
ii) 28 weeks 

 
0 
0 

Number of elected safety and health officers trained 2 

Number of incidents recorded 0 
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